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Group Financial Highlights
For the year ending 31 December 2017

BIG    SHARING Results

£585.8m
prior year £546.9m

Total Assets

£94.4m
prior year £104.2m prior year £99.2m

Liquidity

£1.51m
prior year £1.41m

Profit after Tax

prior year £40.0m prior year £3.5m
£42.8m
General Reserves

£131.1m
New Mortgage Lending

£26.7m
New Savings Balances
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1. Jack Cullen  |  Chairman  
Jack joined the board in 2015 and was appointed as 
Chairman in January 2018.  He has held numerous senior 
managerial and executive roles throughout his 40 years 
working in financial services. 

2. Alison Thain OBE, FCIH  |  Vice Chairman  
Alison joined the Society as a non-executive director in 
October 2011. She worked in the affordable housing sector 
for over 30 years, retiring from the position of Group Chief 
Executive of Stockton based Thirteen Housing Group, the 
largest in the North East, in July 2016. Alongside other 
non-executive roles, she is Chairman of Darlington Homes 
Limited and the Remuneration Committee.

3. Colin Fyfe, FCIOBS   |  Chief Executive 
Colin was appointed Chief Executive of Darlington Building 
Society in April 2014 after working in banking with the 
National Australia Banking Group. Colin is Board Trustee of 
County Durham Community Foundation, Board member of 
Darlington Cares and Chair of Audit and Risk Committee at 
South Tees Development Corporation.

4. Andrew Gosling  |  MA (Oxon), FCA 
Andrew became a non-executive director 
of the Society in 2011 following his retirement from Yorkshire 
Building Society where he was Finance Director. Andrew is 
Chairman of the Audit Committee.

5. Robert Cuffe
Robert was appointed a non-executive director of the Society 
in April 2013. A Teessider by birth, Robert is Regional 
Managing Director of Trinity Mirror North East, publishers of 
The Gazette in Middlesbrough, and the Chronicle, Journal 
and Sunday Sun in Newcastle. He is Chairman of the 
Society’s Pension Trustees and a member of the Board Risk 
Committee.

6. Christopher Hunter  |  BA BSC/ACIB 
Christopher joined the Society in September 2017 as 
Chief Risk Officer. He has over 20 years’ financial services 
experience, more recently at Lloyds Banking Group. 
Christopher is a member of Board Risk Committee, 
Executive Committee, Asset and Liability Committee and the 
Operational Risk and Conduct Committee. He is Chairman of 
the Society’s Pricing Committee.

7. Christopher White  |  BSc (Hons), PhD, ACA 
Christopher joined the Society in 2012 and was appointed 
as Finance Director in 2015. He is a member of Board 
Risk Committee, Executive Committee,  Asset and Liability 
Committee, Operational Risk and Conduct Committee and 
the Credit Committee. Christopher is Chairman of the North 
East shadow Monetary Policy Committee.

8. Ian Wilson  |  MSc, MBA, FLIBF, FCIOBS,  
Chartered Banker 
Ian was appointed as a non-executive director of the 
Society in October 2017. Ian has over 37 years’ experience 
in financial services having held a number of executive 
roles within risk management with various banks before 
undertaking a portfolio career combining advisory and 
non-executive roles.  Ian is Chairman of the Board Risk 
Committee.

9. Maxine Pott  
Maxine joined the Society as a non-executive director in 
January 2018. Maxine is also a director of one of the leading 
independent accountancy practices in the region. Maxine has 
been advising owner managed business both in the UK and 
Europe for over 25 years and has specific expertise in, Audit, 
Corporate Finance and Compliance. Maxine formerly held 
board level positions at the Newcastle Building Society and 
more recently the Port of Tyne. Maxine is a member of the 
Audit Committee.

Colin Fyfe FCIOBS  |  Chief Executive

Christopher Hunter, BA BSC/ACIB   |  Chief Risk Officer

Christopher White BSc(Hons), PhD, ACA,  |  Finance Director

Niki Barker  |  HR Manager

Caroline Darnbrook ACIB,  |  General Manager, Customer Strategy and Delivery

Darren Ditchburn FdA, AdvCeMAP, CeSRE, CeRGI, CSP  |  General Manager, Customer Experience and Distribution

Paul Gillson  |  General Manager, IT

Sarah Horley  |  Customer Support Manager

Head Office
Sentinel House
Morton Road, Darlington, County Durham, DL1 4PT
Phone 01325 366 366
Website www.darlington.co.uk
Member of the Building Societies’ Association.
We are authorised by the Prudential Regulation
Authority and regulated by the Financial Conduct
Authority and the Prudential Regulation Authority.

Registration Number 205895

Independent Auditor
Deloitte LLP
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Note: The following served as directors of the Society in 2017. James Ramsbotham, Chairman retired on 31 December 2017.
Kate Davies retired 30 November 2017 and Rachel Turnbull retired 31 August 2017.  

We also welcomed Julie Maxine Pott to the Board on 1 January 2018.
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CHAIRMAN’S INTRODUCTION

I am pleased to report another year of 
strong progress for the Society as we deliver 
our strategy to grow our business in a 
controlled manner, strengthen our balance 
sheet and provide value to our Members, 
our Community and our People. 

Jack Cullen
Chairman
20 February 2018

James spoke in last year’s report of the way in which Building Societies 
needed to be clear on their link with the communities they serve and 
their membership model. At the start of 2017, we made a commitment to 
share 5% of our net profits after tax with our local communities and our 
Members helped us to determine the causes who should benefit from 
this commitment. I am pleased to report that as a result of this initiative 
we supported 148 organisations and at least 8,620 people in our region 
decided by some 6,505 Member votes. In early 2018, we added our 
Five for Members programme to further demonstrate our commitment to 
sharing not only with our communities but also with our Members.

I was delighted to assume the role of Chairman of the 
Society on 1 January 2018 and am proud to be leading an 
organisation with the values and history of Darlington Building 
Society. Although the words that follow reflect my view of 
how the Society performed in 2017, I would firstly wish to 
say a massive thank you to James Ramsbotham who, as the 
Chairman throughout last year, presided over the Society’s 
continued growth and success. James’ contribution to the 
Society spanned 12 years with over 4 years as Chairman. 
Throughout that time he has helped guide the Society through 
some difficult years following the Global Financial Crash and 
has been instrumental in returning the Society to its current 
healthy financial position.



8

CHAIRMAN’S INTRODUCTION

Offering our best available deal for you on mortgage renewal
Jack Cullen, 
Chairman
20 February 2018

Our Finances
During 2017 we have continued to see positive financial results 
for the Society. The year saw us deliver a strong performance 
with Asset Growth up by over 7% to £585.8m (2016: £546.9m), 
net mortgage lending increased by 11% and Profit After Tax 
grow to £1.5m (2016: £1.4m), a rise of 7%. The Society remains 
in a strong financial position, with capital and liquidity both in 
excess of our regulatory requirements. We will continue to seek 
opportunities that de-risk our balance sheet, deliver balanced 
growth and greater balance sheet efficiency whilst maintaining a 
well-capitalised and sustainable business.

This strong overall performance has been delivered after careful 
analysis of the market and using the opportunities that existed 
to lend to new and existing Members, whilst seeking to deliver 
value wherever possible in a highly competitive and margin 
constrained market. 

Impaired Assets performance continues to be benign and 
well below historical measures however, we continue to work 
through legacy issues to further mitigate risk to the Society in 
the future. 

Our Members
We saw a growth in the number of Members within the Society 
with a net increase of over 1,000 in the year. In an increasingly 
competitive environment, this is particularly pleasing with many 
new providers entering the market giving increased choice. We 
are delighted that the increase in Member numbers is supported 
by outstanding results in our levels of Member satisfaction and 
engagement. Based upon feedback through the year from 1,667 
Members via an independent company, Smart Money People, 
our satisfaction ratings averaged 97.3%. 

In 2017, we have seen a 7.7% increase in the balance of 
savings held by Members (shares) with the Society. The Society 
values the support of its saving Members who are the main 
source of the funds that allow the Society to grow, as it did,  
in 2017.

In November, we also saw the Bank Base Rate rise for the first 
time in 10 years. We were able to demonstrate our commitment 
to Members at that time by absorbing the rate increase 
ourselves and not passing on any rate increases through our 
Standard Variable Rate (SVR).

Our People
The aim of the Society is to create an environment that 
empowers our people to do the best job they can. In the same 
way that we look for opportunities to support our Members we 
similarly look to support our people as they are the ones that 
deliver the excellent service to our Members.  Our Employee 
Ambassadors scheme ensures that all our staff have a voice 
within the Society and are able to bring forward their own 
thoughts and suggestions on any improvements that can be 
made to assist them in their work. During the year, we have 
invested over 4,000 hours in developing our staff for their 
development and 134 days in volunteering to support local 
organisations.

Our Performance

Our Business
We continually look to improve the Society and delivered on 
a number of operational priorities during 2017. These were 
all designed to improve the performance of the Society and 
improve services to Members or Partners, whilst de-risking 
our business. These include launching our new Website to 
make it more user-friendly, reducing the number of days in our 
mortgage process, improving our Firewall security, transferring 
our IT infrastructure to The Cloud, expanding our network of 
Intermediaries, moving to a new Head Office, and improving our 
mailing systems to name but a few. Our commitment to improve 
has set in train a number of efficiency enhancements to our 
operations.

Our Board
After a year full of so many positives, it is appropriate to thank 
Rachel Turnbull (Non Executive Director and Member of the 
Audit Committee), Kate Davies (Non Executive Director and 
Member of the Board Risk Committee) and Paul Richardson 
(Executive Director and Risk and Governance Director), who all 
have contributed so positively to the business but who all left the 
Board of the Society during 2017.  I would also like to welcome 
Ian Wilson (Non Executive Director and the new Chair of the 
Board Risk Committee for 2018),  Maxine Pott (Non Executive 
Director and Member of the Audit Committee) and Chris Hunter 
(Executive  Director and Chief Risk Officer) who have all joined 
the Society. Each brings their own unique skills and experience 
and I commend all three to the Members as they seek election 
to the Board. 

Our Future
As I review 2017, I can conclude that it has been a strong year 
in all the key areas for Darlington Building Society. Our financial 
performance remains buoyant, we are attracting new Members 
who are receiving high standards of service, we are investing in 
the people who are so critical to our success, we are continuing 
to improve for the good of everyone and we are making a real 
difference to the communities in which we operate. 

The economic risks associated with Brexit (including GDP Growth, 
inflation and employment) ever increasing competition, margin 
compression and potential increases in industry wide impaired 
assets will require us to continue to apply sound business 
judgement as we move forward. But we look forward with a degree 
of optimism based upon our experiences to date. We have proven 
we can build our business by delivering a sensible strategy that 
helps us provide a sustainable business whilst providing value to 
our Members, Community and People.
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We all like to feel part of something that makes 
a difference. A difference to us, a difference to 
our friends and family and a difference to the 
world around us.

Somewhere we can feel as though we belong 
and we are acknowledged for being a part of it. 
A place where our opinions count and we can 
share in how things are done.

At Darlington Building Society, we think 
that by doing the right thing and sharing for 
everyone’s benefit we can make things a bit 
better – for you, for us, for the people in our 
region, for good. By joining together to make a 
real difference the impact of what we do gets 
stronger and the benefits are greater.

THE ETHOS OF SHARING SITS AT THE 
HEART OF THIS SOCIETY, IN THE WAY IT 
HAS SINCE 1856. OUR RESULTS FOR 2017 
DEMONSTRATE THAT EVEN IN TODAY’S 
MODERN, FAST-PACED WORLD, BEING 
BIG ON SHARING IS HIGHLY RELEVANT 
AND HAS A PLACE – BOTH NOW AND IN 
THE FUTURE.

Colin Fyfe
Chief Executive
20 February 2018

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’SCHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEWREVIEW

I am delighted to report that having 
invested in the business in recent years, 
the Society was able to record strong 
growth with gross lending increasing 
by over 32%, our balance sheet size 
increasing by 7%, our mortgage book 
increasing by 11% and our net profit 
after tax increasing to over £1.5m 
(2016: £1.4m). 

OVERVIEW OF 2017

Given our commitment to share 5%, this increase in profits also translates to an increase in the amount we can share 
with our community – which I will cover off in more detail later.  In a particularly challenging mortgage market with an 
increasing number of competitors, reducing mortgage rates and an uncertain property sector these results were made 
possible by focussing the Society on the key lending areas that we specialise in.  Your Board focussed on ensuring that 
growth came without diversifying from our core business and maintaining our current risk profile and risk appetite. 
Our revitalised Brand continues to appeal to both local and national markets. Our online services are attractive to 
mortgage intermediaries who continue to be the dominant distribution channel in the UK mortgage market. 
The Society’s funding strategy evolved over the year assisting to deliver increased profitability which in turn improved 
our Capital position which was also assisted by the valuation of our pension fund.  We finished the year with a strong 
capital position of £42.8m (2016: £40.0m). The Society also succeeded in reducing its liquidity balances in 2017 to 
improve the efficiency of our Balance Sheet. 
The strength of the performance was not only evident in our financial accounts but also in the continued evolution 
of our Member, people and community strategies.  The Society measures itself using a scorecard with measures 
attributable to customer, people, excellence and financial. This breadth of focus is vital to ensure we grow as a 
balanced business.

2017 proved to be a successful year for your Society – demonstrating strong growth both in terms of financial results 
and also in our Membership numbers. It is particularly pleasing that the performance has been delivered alongside 
excellent service standards to our Members and making a real difference to the community through our commitment to 
share 5% of our net profits with local causes. 
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW

Mortgages
The UK mortgage market whilst relatively flat in 2017 had 
pockets of growth that proved successful for your Society. 
The Government’s Right to Build legislation, introduced 
in 2016, is assisting Custom and Self Builders to make 
their dream homes a reality. Your Society increased its 
participation in this market with appropriate insurance and 
valuation controls in place. 
Older age borrowing is becoming an opportunity and at 
times a necessity for UK consumers. As we work longer 
and live longer mortgages are being tailored to the needs 
of the borrower and inter-generational mortgages are 
allowing consumers both young and old to support each 
other to get a foot on the housing ladder. Your Board have 
been able to assist many borrowers by creating the most 
appropriate structure for them by continuing to focus our 
underwriters on the risks for both the consumer and the 
Society. 
Government initiatives such as Help to Buy continue to be 
important in the market and your Society has been able 
to help first time buyers using this structure as well as our 
own first time buyer products. We have paid particular 
attention to our local market to ensure that we provide the 
right products and the most attractive interest rates. 

Savings
It proved to be another challenging year for savers with 
interest rates at all-time lows for much of the year and 
liquidity high within the Financial Services sector. As in 
previous years, the aim was to set out to strike a balance 
between rewarding Members and controlling our liquidity 
position. Savings rates were held higher for young savers, 
to encourage the savings habit and savers looking to 
build up a deposit for a home. We remain focussed on 
rewarding the Society’s long-term savers and therefore 
took action in 2017 such as holding the rate of our Loyalty 
Bonus Account rate in place for most of the year against a 
market with falling retail savings rates. Our growth in retail 
savings of 7.7% and control of liquidity down to 17.5% of 
our total Shares and Deposits shows that we can achieve 
the right balance. 

Our Members and our Communities
One of the highlights of our year was to witness 
our growth in Member Numbers by over 1,000. The 
investment in our Brand has been successful and has 
underpinned our Member growth.  
In January 2017, we announced our intention to share 
5% of our net profits with our local communities. We 
offered our Members the opportunity to vote on the key 
community areas they would like us to support. We were 
delighted that 6,505 of you took the time to vote and 
support this initiative. Your votes led to 3 key segments of 
the community being the focus in 2017 being:
-  People helping People;
-  The elderly and loneliness

-  Medical Research. 

We were delighted to receive support from County 
Durham Community Foundation in sourcing excellent 
local causes and providing us with fantastic support in 
understanding the real difference made by our Members. 
Additionally in our Branches we asked our Members to 
vote for local organisations who would benefit from our 
sharing approach and again we received an excellent 
response. In 2017, our commitment to share 5% of our 
net profits after tax meant that we shared over £70,000 
with local causes making a difference to over 8,620 
people and 148 organisations. We are delighted that this 
initiative is proving so popular. 
When we share larger sums of money we ensure that 
the beneficiaries know that the support is provided by the 
Members of Darlington Building Society. During 2017 we 
unveiled a plaque at St Teresa’s Hospice in Darlington 
where we funded a bedroom and memory tree. At Theatre 
Hullabaloo in Darlington we sponsor the Foyer and Cafe 
Area of the only dedicated children’s theatre outside 
London – it is also a vital community hub and offers a 
range of activities for young families in our area and 
beyond. Later in April 2018 we will host our AGM at the 
Theatre in what is a unique venue.
During the year, our activities have been recognised by 
others and I was pleased to collect two awards on behalf 
of the Society - Outstanding Charity Support - by Small 
to Medium Companies in the North East Charity Awards 
and Business Contribution to the Community award at the 
Best of Darlington.
Your feedback on our service is always welcome and 
we have been delighted with our Net Promoter scores 
throughout 2017 which averaged at 86.6 and our 
Customer Satisfaction scores which averaged 97.3% 
based upon 1,667 reviews. Net Promoter Score is a 
measure of whether people would recommend us to their 
friends, family and colleagues, so we are pleased that 
so many of our reviews show strong advocacy for your 
Society, which puts us in a great position for the future. 
We recently launched our Five for Members benefits 
scheme, designed to ensure our Members receive the 
recognition they deserve by staying with us, getting more 
involved and recommending us. 
We all like to be part of something that makes a 
difference so please help and encourage us to continue 
our sharing strategy. 

The Economy
The newspaper headlines in 2017 were dominated with 
speculation around the outcome of Brexit negotiations. 
Whilst we continue to monitor progress with these 
negotiations, your Society, as a wholly UK based and 
trading business, has no direct exposure to European 
trading. Our economy will however react to Brexit and any 
interest rate changes would see the most impact on your 
Society. I am pleased to say that we are well placed to 
manage any changes to interest rates.

BIG    SHARING Time
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S CHIEF EXECUTIVE’SREVIEW REVIEW

In November 2017, the Governor of the Bank of England 
announced a 0.25% increase in Bank Base Rate. This 
increase had been predicted by market analysts and your 
Society was ready to react. Whilst many lenders passed 
this increase directly on to all mortgage borrowers, your 
Society felt that it was strong enough to absorb the full 
0.25% increase on the Standard Variable Rate. This 
meant that many of our mortgage Members did not 
see any increase to their mortgage rate. For this initial 
increase in the Bank Base Rate, this felt like the right 
thing to do at a time when wages growth continues to be 
low and inflation has been on the rise. 
When Bank of England Base Rate rises there is an 
opportunity to help savers increase their returns. Recent 
years have been difficult for savers with low interest rates 
offered across the market. Your Society has protected 
certain savings accounts and made careful decisions 
to ensure savers saw some of the benefit. The relative 
positive impact of the application of this Bank of England 
rate rise to our Members was fully considered by your 
Board and whilst it will impact 2018 profitability it was 
agreed that this was the right time with the Society’s 
strengthening Balance Sheet to take this decision.  

Resilience 
Protecting our computer servers and Members data 
is vital for the Society and in 2017 we upgraded our 
approach. Firstly, we invested in a new firewall to 
protect our technology from unwanted penetration. 
This investment included an upgraded email protection 
system. 
In December your Society went “into the Cloud” for the 
first time. Prior to this our main servers were located in 
our Head Office. The opportunity to improve the physical 
security of our systems was important and they are now 
retained within an external secure data centre. 
Other systems replaced include our Nominal Ledger,  
our Treasury Management System and our Risk 
Management System. 

Supporting Our Growth
The second half of 2017 saw your Society move to a new 
Head Office in Darlington. Although the office involved 
only a couple of hundred yards move, the new premises 
provide the increased space we need to accommodate 
the Society’s future plans and provides an excellent 
advert for the Society’s Brand and modern outlook. 
Moving in immediately before Christmas, we are now 
settled and have used the meeting room facilities to host 
the Board of Darlington Cares, the regular meetings of 
Darlington Speakers Club and welcomed the public to 
a workshop on Alzheimer’s. We are also delighted that 
we have the facilities to welcome Members to hold their 
mortgage interviews at these premises with extended 
opening hours. 
Whilst moving to a new physical home is a strenuous 

activity we also moved to a new virtual home when we 
relaunched our website early in 2017.  Our website is vital 
to provide all the necessary information and services that 
our Members increasingly need. We are pleased that our 
new website was ranked in the Top 15 of websites for 
Financial Services providers for ease of use.

Our Focus on Youth
In January 2017 we launched our Darly savings account. 
Our goal is to encourage young people to get into the 
savings habit and we are using our little character, Darly 
to get this message across. Darly became popular 
very quickly and led to us launching Darly’s first book 
(Darly’s Magical History Ride) following support from our 
Marketing agency, Shift and Peter Barron, Darlington 
Building Society Ambassador and ex Editor of the 
Northern Echo. The book not only tells the tale of Darly’s 
adventures but helps young people to gather literacy and 
numeracy skills together with historical learnings.
Working with local schools we are able to offer a range 
of opportunities for young people to learn and prepare 
for the world of work.  With Northshore Academy we 
continued the reverse mentoring programme and it was 
great to see my second mentor attending Darly’s 1st 
Birthday party.  With QE College in Darlington we have 
been able to offer an integrated programme including 
Public Speaking, Volunteering, Work Experience and 
Project work. 

Our Future Plans 
Your Board has focussed its strategic thinking on the next 
3 years and the path that will take us through to the end 
of 2020.  Settled in our new Head Office, we have created 
space to grow our services. In January 2018 we launched 
our Direct Services Team based in our Head Office. This 
team will offer telephone, face to face and, in time, video 
technology services to our Members in a way that suits 
them. 
Our plan in 2018 is to enhance our Online Services which 
will again offer our Members flexibility in how they interact 
with us. Convenience and time in our fast paced modern 
world is precious and we will continue to provide choices 
in how our Members communicate with us. 
Members will see in other parts of this report our Five For 
Members proposition.  Since we relaunched our Brand 
in 2015 we have been building out the proposition, which 
you said was important to you. Five For Members wraps 
this together and you will have access to benefits which 
we believe position the Society as a unique financial 
services organisation. 

James Ramsbotham 
James Ramsbotham recruited me to Darlington Building 
Society and I will always be grateful that he gave me the 
opportunity to lead this fine organisation.  I thank him for 
his support and wish him well for the future. 

Summary 
The outlook for your Society is positive and we will continue to make you proud of the work we do. 
I ask you to continue to be our advocates and encourage your friends and family to find out how we can help them. 
At Darlington Building Society you can be assured that your opinions count and you can share in how we do things.  It’s 
the advantages of Membership and we look forward to sharing our progress in the year ahead. 

Colin Fyfe
Chief Executive
20 February 2018
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...of our profits* for the 
future of our communities

*Net profit after tax

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Economy, Mortgage  
and Savings Markets
There has been continued economic and political 
uncertainty in 2017. Savers suffered as a result of the 
record low interest rate environment and limited retail 
savings price competition, with Bank of England base 
rate sitting at 0.25% up until November. Worries over 
Brexit remain, leading to uncertainty, have led to reduced 
business confidence and spending. A weaker pound has 
hit consumer spending by pushing up inflation. Inflation 
peaked at 3.1% in 2017, however, the average house 
price in the UK only rose by 1% in 2017. 
The Bank of England reacted to high levels of inflation 
and other economic data in November 2017 by returning 
the bank base rate to 0.5%. The Society was able to 
demonstrate its commitment to Members by not passing 
any rate increases through to our Standard Variable Rate, 
while increasing the rate it is able to provide on most 
savings products, effective from January 2018. 
The Society is active both locally and nationally in 
informing and influencing economic thought and debate. 
The Society’s Finance Director, Christopher White, chairs 
the North East Shadow Monetary Policy Committee

Assets
The total assets of the Group at 31 December 2017 
were £585.8m (2016: £546.9m) representing a £38.8m 
or 7.1% increase from the previous year. The growth 
in the Group’s mortgage book was higher at £47.6m or 
11.0% increasing to £481.9m (2016: £434.3m). These 
movements were the result of the Group’s strategy to shift 
the distribution of its assets more towards mortgages and 
reduce the Group’s liquid assets to a more efficient and 
effective balance.

Lending
The Group has seen strong lending in 2017 with new 
mortgage lending in the year of £131.1m (2016: £99.2m). 
This significant increase on lending in the prior year 
was a key success story for the Group in 2017 and was 
achieved in a highly competitive mortgage market without 
the Society changing its lending approach or risk appetite. 

2016 20172013 2014 2015

Total Group Assets (£’m)

519.8

531.4 532.3

546.9

585.8

UK GAAP
FRS 102

Financial Performance

2016 20172013 2014 2015

Mortgage Book (£’m)

405.0
413.2 407.2

434.3

481.9

UK GAAP
FRS 102

Summary
The Group has seen a very positive financial performance in 2017 with strong lending leading to growth in both the 
Group’s mortgage and total assets. The Group’s profitability improved on the prior year despite uncertain economic 
conditions and increased mortgage lending in a challenging and competitive mortgage market. Group profit before tax 
and before adjustments to the fair value of investment properties has improved by over 17%.  The Group has seen 
substantial growth in its total assets and, more significantly, its mortgage book which increased by over 11% in 2017, 
as the Group continues to build on the growth in its mortgage book that it was able to generate in 2016. The Group has 
also continued to manage its liquidity to a more efficient level in the year to improve the Group’s efficiency in 2017 and 
beyond.
The Society has a strong capital base that has been further strengthened in 2017 through strong retained profits as 
well as a positive movement in the actuarial valuation of the Society’s closed deferred benefit pension scheme. This 
resulted in the Group seeing an overall increase in capital of £2.79m (2016: decrease of £0.77m) in the year. The 
Group capital as at 31 December 2017 was £42.8m (2016: £40.0m). 

The Group measures its performance internally based on a range of financial and non-financial Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs). These KPIs are discussed individually below. Our statutory financial KPI’s are shown on page 37.
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2016 20172013 2014 2015

Profit before tax and changes in fair value of 
Investment Properties (£’000)

861

1,717
1,883 1,916

2,250UK GAAP
FRS 102

The Group’s management expenses ratio has decreased 
from 1.43% to 1.39% during 2017. This reflects the 
return on the investment in our Brand and our digital 
channels, resulting in increased new lending volumes 
and asset growth. The Group is satisfied that the benefits 
of investment in operations are being seen following 
significant increases in new lending volumes in 2017.
The Group and Society profits contribute to their capital 
positions net of adjustments seen within the statement of 
comprehensive income for the year. This statement also 
reflects any actuarial movements seen in the Group’s 
closed defined benefit pension plan as well as the 
deferred tax relating to the pension scheme. Improved 
global stock market conditions through 2017 mean 
that a significant actuarial gain has been seen in the 
Society’s closed defined benefit plan. Net of deferred tax 
the actuarial gain for the year was £1.3m (2016: loss of 
£2.18m). As a result, after these adjustments, the Group’s 
overall capital base increased by £2.79m (2016: reduced 
by £0.77m) to £42.8m (2016: £40.0m).

The Group retains a strong capital position with all internal 
and regulatory capital requirements comfortably met. The 
Group’s capital as a percentage of our assets remains 
at 7.31% (2016: 7.31%) which compares well against a 
peer group average* of 6.9%. The Society’s delegated act 
leverage ratio at 2017 year end was 7.3% (2016: 7.3%) 
which is over twice the regulatory limit set by the Bank of 
England for Globally Systemic Banks of 3.0%.

2016
2016

2017

2017

2014
2014

2013

2013

2015
2015

Capital (£’m)

38.4
668

39.9

2,355

40.7

1,202
40.01,411

42.8

1,510 UK GAAP
FRS 102

UK GAAP
FRS 102
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*Peer Group average based on financial reporting results for year ends 
in 2015/16 as reported within the KPMG Building Society Core Statistics 
2016 for Building Society’s with total assets between £900m and £300m

Profitability and Capital
As a mutual Building Society our objective has always 
been to optimise, rather than to maximise our profit. 
Indeed this is the essence of the difference between plc’s 
and Building Societies. Naturally, there is a balance to 
be struck, and the Society needs to make sufficient profit 
to protect our capital ratios and allow growth whilst still 
providing value to our Members through our products and 
services.
The Group traded profitably during 2017 and finished the 
year with a net profit after tax of £1.51m (2016: £1.41m). 
At a Society level a profit after tax of £1.47m was 
achieved  (2016: £1.31m). 

2016 20172013 2014 2015

Total Shares (£’m)

442.1
448.8

456.9

469.2

505.4

UK GAAP
FRS 102

Profit after tax (£’000)

The Society restated its 2014 profit after tax when it 
converted to FRS102, recognising a gain of £1.06m on 
the value of investment properties held by the Group. 
During 2017, the Group recognised a reduction in the 
fair value of the Group’s investment properties of £0.38m 
(2016: £0.14m). Before the effect of this change, the 
Group saw its profit before tax and changes to the fair 
value of investment properties improve by over 17% in 
2017 to £2.25m (2016: £1.92m).
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Funding
The historically low bank base rate seen during the 
majority of 2017 put further pressure on the return 
available to savers and there has been little competition 
in the savings market for retail funds through 2017. The 
Society continues to strive to reward and encourage 
Members saving with us through:
• Offering new and innovative savings products such 

as the market leading 2 year fixed rate ISA products 
offered in the 2017 ISA season. Our new Member 
Exclusive range was launched in 2017 consisting of the 
45 day notice account, the 2 year fixed rate bond and 
the 2 year Bank of England base rate tracker bond.

• Encouraging new savers to learn to save regularly 
with attractive products for younger Members such 
as the Society’s Darly Young Saver Account providing 
children with a free Darly the train engine moneybox, 
a competitive rate of 1.8%, as well as the Junior Cash 
ISA with a very competitive rate of 3.0%.

Our funding strategy has allowed the Group’s total shares 
balance (deposits made by Members) to grow by 7.7% 
in the year to £505.4m (2016: £469.2m). In the year 
ahead the Society will look to continue to support our 
saving Members by continuing these themes as well as 
introducing new ones.
During 2017, the Society increased its wholesale funding 
to help support the Society’s strong lending to 3.5% of 
total shares and borrowings (2016: 2.3%). This increase 
was largely offset by a reduction in the funds placed by 
corporate depositors with the Society. The proportion of 
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2016

2016

2017

2017

2013

2013

2014

2014

2015

2015

Provision held against loans (£’000)

Liquidity (£’m)

3,201

104.9

3,279

107.6

2,191

115.7

2,078

104.2

2,199

94.4

UK GAAP
FRS 102

Provisioning on loans
If borrowers fall upon hard times, the Society, as a first 
step will always attempt to make a suitable arrangement 
with them, we will handle their case with sympathy 
and understanding whilst balancing and respecting the 
interests of other existing Members. Where the Society 
considers that there is a possibility of a loss, a provision is 
made in accordance with policy.
The Group has seen an increase in the charges for 
loan impairments within the Income and Expenditure 
account. During 2017, a moderate charge of £0.18m 
(2016: £0.02m) was made to the Group’s income and 
expenditure account in relation to provisions for bad and 
doubtful debts. The total provision held by the Group 
against the loan book has increased during the year to 
£2.20m (2016: £2.08m).

Forbearance on loans
There are times when the Society will use forbearance 
measures to assist borrowers who are experiencing 
some form of financial difficulty. Forbearance can include 
measures such as accepting a reduced monthly payment 
or agreeing to a temporary transfer to interest only. We 
expect these borrowers to resume their normal monthly 
payments once they are able. As at 31 December 2017 
the Society had forbearance measures in place for 64 
accounts (2016: 80) with an outstanding balance on 
these accounts of £3.13m (2016: £4.62m). There were 
no accounts at the end of 2017 on which temporary 
interest only payments were being accepted (2016: 1). 
Further information on the credit risk within the loan book, 
including information on the forbearance being offered by 
the Group, is given in Note 26 to the Accounts.
A breakdown of the provisions against the loan book 
is given in Note 12 to the Annual accounts and further 
information on the credit risk within the loan book given in 
Note 26.

Liquidity
The strong lending performance in 2017 has presented 
the opportunity for the Society to reduce the levels of 
liquidity it has been holding. The Group’s liquid assets, 
in the form of cash and authorised securities, decreased 
to £94.4m by the year end (2016: £104.2m) representing 
17.5% of total shares and borrowings (2016: 20.8%). This 
reduction has allowed the Group to improve the efficiency 
and effectiveness of its balance sheet whilst still ensuring 
it holds sufficient funds to serve its members.

UK GAAP
FRS 102

wholesale and corporate deposits, therefore, decreased 
marginally in the year to 6.4% of total shares and 
borrowings (2016: 6.5%).
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties
We have a duty to Members to manage all risks that arise from our business operations. In doing so, our strategy 
and policies aim to protect Members’ funds, safeguard Group assets and maintain the financial strength of the Group. 
The Society complies with the Capital Requirements Directive (CRD) which requires us to assess the adequacy of 
our capital through an Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP). Through the application of the ICAAP 
directors are satisfied that the Group holds a sufficient level of capital  to satisfy both the CRD’s Pillar 1 minimum 
requirements and to cover those risks which directors have identified under Pillar 2. Further details regarding these 
risks are disclosed on our website under “Pillar 3 disclosures”.

The principal risks in the business are credit, market, liquidity, operational, conduct, pension, strategic and regulatory 
risk. Further detail is provided in the grid the below:

To manage risk the Society operates a “three lines of 
defence” model:

A committee structure supports the management of 
the Society’s risks. The Board Risk Committee, which 
is chaired by a non-executive director, is responsible 
for monitoring the principal risks types which affect the 
business. The Chief Executive chairs the Executive 
management Committees of Operational and Conduct 
Risk , Credit Committee and the Asset & Liabilities 
Committee.

Viability Statement
The Board confirms the Society’s viability having reviewed 
medium and long term plans over a 5 year horizon.  In 
particular the Board examined forecast capital, profitability 
and liquidity of the Group, and the principal risks to those 
forecasts through a variety of stress testing scenarios. 
This horizon is considered appropriate through alignment 
to the Group’s usual forecasting and management 
reporting allowing robust and continuous assessment of 
the Group’s expected position and principal risks over 
the time-frame. Active risk management is undertaken 
to mitigate the Group’s principal risks as detailed above 
including an assessment of potential emerging risks.

Credit Risk
The risk that a Member, customer or counterparty 
may not be able to meet their obligations to the 
Society as they fall due.

Credit risk in relation to retail/ commercial customers 
is governed by limits approved by the Board within 
the Lending Policy. Exposure to counterparty risk is 
controlled through limits set within the Financial Risk 
Management Policy.

Market Risk

The risk that the income from, or value of the 
Group’s assets and liabilities may change when 
affected by fluctuations in market rates such as 
house price index, inflation and interest rates.

This is managed through interest rate hedging 
instruments or, natural product offsets through limits 
set within the Financial Risk Management Policy.

Liquidity Risk
The risk that the Group may not be able to meet its 
financial obligations as they become due, or may do 
so only at a disproportionate or excessive cost.

This is monitored within limits set in the Financial 
Risk Management Policy. This includes stressing 
the liquidity position against adverse cash flows on a 
regular basis.

Operational Risk

The risk that an exposure or loss may arise from 
inadequate, inappropriate, insufficient or otherwise 
failed or failing internal processes or systems, 
human error or external events.

This is managed by operating processes, operating 
controls and policies which are monitored through 
the Operational and Conduct Risk Committee. 

Conduct Risk The risk that we fail to treat customer’s fairly or 
comply with relevant conduct regulations.

This is managed through our risk culture in the 
Society’s values demonstrated in customer or 
business interactions.  This is monitored through the 
Operational and Conduct Risk Committee. 

Pension Risk The risk of financial deficit in the defined benefit plan 
of the Society.

The Pension Trustees of the Society’s Defined 
Benefit Plan are responsible for managing this 
risk through determining and implementing an 
appropriate investment strategy.

Strategic Risk

This risk may arise because of external factors such 
as the economy or competition in the mortgage 
market, internally insufficient resources, lack of 
clarity around strategic focus, lack of knowledge, 
skills and experience or insufficient and ineffective 
oversight by Board and Executive.

This is overseen by the Board, with the Executive 
given the management authority to deliver a detailed 
Business Plan which is monitored on a continual 
basis.

Regulatory Risk
This risk that the Society does not comply with 
external regulations resulting in excessive costs of 
compliance or regulatory censure or fine.

Regulatory risk is managed by regulatory tracking, 
regular compliance monitoring of existing regulatory 
requirements and internal audit review of key 
regulated activities.

Area of Risk Risk Mitigation

3rd line of defence

2nd line of defence

1st line of defence

Frontline Management & Staff

Compliance & Risk Functions

Internal  Audit

Takes ownership for risk

Ensuring effective construction and implementation 
of internal controls

Provides oversight and challenge to first  
line of defence

Support appropriate risk taking using policies, 
frameworks, tools and analysis

Independent assurance over the first two lines of 
defence provided by Internal Audit

Compliance and Regulation
The Society is regulated by the Prudential Regulation 
Authority (PRA) and the Financial Conduct Authority 
(FCA). The Society fully accepts the responsibilities 
associated with regulatory compliance. 

Staff
We encourage and support staff at all levels, by providing 
technical and professional education and development. 
Our objectives and the performance towards those 
objectives are communicated via regular staff and 
management meetings. All members of staff have their 
individual contributions assessed as part of a structured 
performance appraisal process.
We are proud to provide a working environment which 
encourages equal access to training, promotion and 
career development among all employees regardless of 
their age, creed, gender, marital status or race. 
We appreciate our “Positive about Disability” status, 
which means that full and fair consideration is given to 
applications for employment from disabled persons.
Once again our staff have continued to provide an 
excellent service to our Members and your directors 
would like to express their thanks to all of our staff for 
their dedication and loyalty.

Significant Events Since The Year End
There have been no events since the year end which 
your directors consider would have a material effect 
on the position of the Society or any of the subsidiary 
companies.

DIRECTORS’DIRECTORS’ REPORTREPORT
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Directors
The Members of the Board of Directors who served 
during the year were:

Chairman
James Ramsbotham (retired 31 December 2017).
Jack Cullen was appointed Chairman on 1 January 2018.

Vice Chairman
Alison Thain

Directors  
• Robert Cuffe
• Jack Cullen
• Kate Davies (retired 30 November 2017)
• Colin Fyfe
• Andrew Gosling
• Christopher Hunter (appointed 4 September 2017) 
• Paul Richardson (retired 31 August 2017)
• Rachel Turnbull (retired 31 August 2017)
• Christopher White
• Ian Wilson (appointed 1 October 2017).

Maxine Pott was appointed as non-executive director on 
1 January 2018.

None of the directors hold any shares in, or debentures 
of, any subsidiary of the Society.
In accordance with Rule 26 Robert Cuffe, Andrew Gosling 
and Christopher White will retire at the Annual General 
Meeting on 24th April 2018. Being eligible, they all seek 
re-election. The Chairman can confirm that a formal 
performance evaluation has been undertaken, that their 
performance continues to be effective and they continue 
to demonstrate commitment to their roles. Christopher 
Hunter, Maxine Pott and Ian Wilson all seek election at 
the Annual General Meeting.

Going Concern
The directors have prepared forecasts of the Group’s 
financial position for the period ending 12 months from 
the date of approval of these financial statements. In 
doing so they have also considered the effects on the 
Society’s business of operating under stressed but 
plausible operating conditions. As a result they are 
satisfied that the Society and the Group have adequate 
resources to continue in business for the foreseeable 
future.

For this reason, the accounts continue to be prepared on 
a going concern basis.

Independent Auditors
The independent Auditors, Deloitte LLP have expressed 
their willingness to continue in office having been 
appointed at last year’s Annual General Meeting. The 
Audit Committee have reviewed the effectiveness of 
Deloitte LLP and can confirm that they continue to exhibit 
independence and objectivity of the audit process, taking 
into consideration relevant UK professional and regulatory 
requirements.

Being eligible, a resolution to reappoint Deloitte LLP as 
independent auditors to the Group will be proposed at the 
Annual General Meeting.

Statement on disclosure of  
information to auditors
Each of the directors at the date of the approval of this 
report confirms that:

• So far as the director is aware, there is no relevant 
audit information of which the Group’s independent 
auditors are unaware; and

• The director has taken all the steps that should be 
taken by a director in order to be aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that the Group’s 
independent auditors are aware of that information

Jack Cullen, 
Chairman
20 February 2018

On behalf of the Board of Directors.

Risk Management Report

Savings

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Saving small amounts regularly 
can make a big difference towards 
your big holiday
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Your directors are committed to 
applying best practice in corporate 
governance commensurate with 
our mutual status and our activities. 
This report explains to Members our 
approach which is based on the April 
2016 version of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code (“the Code”) 
issued by the Financial Reporting 
Council.

Whilst the Code does not apply 
to building societies; the Building 
Societies Regulatory Guide within 
the PRA Handbook states that all 
building societies should have regard 
to the UK Corporate Governance 
Code. We have outlined below 
our approach to the practices and 
principles within the code in the 
following sections:

Leadership
The Role of the Board
Your Board is committed to 
the principles of mutuality. The 
Board meets regularly to review 
performance against long term 
strategic and operational objectives. 

Details are contained in the Business 
Plan and supported by the Five Year 
Financial Plan.
The Board has used their delegated 
powers for some responsibilities to 
Board and Executive committees as 
detailed below, however they retain 
matters that are reserved for the full 
Board which are disclosed on our 
website at www.darlington.co.uk.
In addition the Board has general 
responsibilities to ensure that the 
Group:
• operates within its constitution,
• complies with appropriate 

legislation and regulations,
• has proper accounting records 

which are established, maintained, 
documented and audited,

• has effective systems of business 
control which are established, 
maintained, documented and 
audited.

The Board takes decisions on 
specific matters such as major 
investment and capital purchases. 

The Board also establishes and 
monitors the strategic objectives 
of the Group. Decisions such as 
mortgage applications within agreed 
mandate levels, funding within 
operating limits and HR issues are 
delegated to management.
All directors meet without the Chief 
Executive present at least once a 
year. All directors meet without the 
Chairman present at least once a 
year.
All Board Members have the 
benefit of appropriate liability 
insurance at the Society’s expense. 
All Board Members have access 
to independent legal and other 
appropriate professional advice, if 
required.
The attendance of directors at 
the scheduled Board and Board 
Committee meetings is set out below.  
Against each director’s name is 
shown the number of meetings at 
which the director was present as a 
member and in brackets the number 
of such meetings that the director 
was eligible to attend during the year.

The Board determines the responsibilities and composition of these committees, which are authorised to make decisions within 
agreed parameters and/or make recommendations to the full Board as appropriate. The Terms of Reference of each committee are 
disclosed on our website at www.darlington.co.uk.

Director Board Board Risk Audit Nominations Remuneration

Robert Cuffe 11 (12) 5 (5) - - 2 (2)

Jack Cullen 12 (12) 5 (5) - 4 (4) 2 (2)

Kate Davies 11 (11) 5 (5) - - 2 (2)

Colin Fyfe 12 (12) 4 (5) - 4 (4) -

Andrew Gosling 12 (12) - 4 (4) - 2 (2)

Christopher Hunter 3 (4) 1 (2) - - -

James Ramsbotham 12 (12) - - 1 (2) 2 (2)

Paul Richardson 7 (8) 3 (3) - - -

Alison Thain 12 (12) - 4 (4) 4 (4) 2 (2)

Rachel Turnbull 8 (8) - 3 (4) - 2 (2)

Christopher White 12 (12) 5 (5) - - -

Ian Wilson 3 (3) 1 (1) - - -

Committee

The Board Risk Committee
The purpose of the Board Risk 
Committee is to review the risk 
culture of the Group, setting the 
tone in respect of risk management. 
The Committee is also responsible 
for ensuring the risk culture is fully 
embedded and supports at all times 
the Society’s agreed risk appetite, 
covering the extent and categories 
of risk which the Board considers as 
acceptable.
In seeking to achieve this, the 
Committee assumes responsibility 
for monitoring the Society’s 
Risk Management Framework, 
which embraces risk principles, 
policies, methodologies, systems, 
processes, procedures and people. 
It also includes the review of new, 
or material amendments to risk 
principles, regulations and policies, 
and overseeing any action resulting 
from material breaches of such 
policy.
During the year Board Risk 
Committee approved the 
Society’s recovery plan, agreed 
to the Society’s 3 lines of defence 
monitoring, compliance and 
assurance plans, approved the Risk 
Appetite and reviewed the Business 
Continuity plan. In addition policies 
were approved included the Financial 
Risk Management Policy.
The committee members at the year 
end were:
• Ian Wilson (Chairman)
• Robert Cuffe
• Colin Fyfe
• Christopher Hunter
• Christopher White
Kate Davies served on the 
Committee until retirement from the 
Board in November 2017 and Alison 
Thain will join the membership in 
2018.

The Audit Committee
The purpose of the Committee is 
to monitor and review the Society’s 
financial, narrative reporting 
arrangements, the effectiveness 

The Nominations 
Committee
This committee considers the 
structure, size and composition of the 
Board and makes recommendations 
to the Board regarding any proposed 
changes. The committee is also 
responsible for reviewing succession 
planning for members of the Board 
and executive. The committee 
will nominate candidates to fill 
Board vacancies and will consider 
nominations made by members.
The committee meets at least once a 
year, the committee members at the 
year end were:
• Jack Cullen (Chairman)
• Colin Fyfe
• Alison Thain

The Remuneration 
Committee
This committee considers the 
remuneration and contractual 
arrangements for the non-executive 
directors, executive directors and 
executive committee with the Chief 
Executive in attendance. The 
committee meets at least twice a 
year and comprises all non-executive 
directors. The Terms of Reference 
for the Remuneration Committee are 
published on our website at  
www.darlington.co.uk

The Credit Committee
This committee, which is an 
Executive Committee, considers 
the Credit Risk in the Society’s 
residential and commercial 
lending and approves loans above 
underwriter mandates.  Risks to the 
Society are considered which are 
impacting now and in the future. The 
committee uses the Board agreed 
risk appetite to guide decisions.  
The committee Members at the year 
end were:
• Colin Fyfe (Chairman)
• Caroline Darnbrook
• Darren Ditchburn
• Sarah Horley
• Christopher Hunter
• Phil Taylor
• Christopher White 

The Assets and  
Liabilities Committee
This committee controls the 
methods for managing credit risk of 
counterparties, basis risk, settlement 
risk, funding risk, interest rate risk 
and structural risk in the balance 
sheet. The committee implements 
appropriate limits and monitors 
relevant exposures. A Financial Risk 
Management Policy is maintained 
which sets out our risk appetite and 
our approach to liquidity, funding 
and structural balance sheet 
management. The committee meets 
at least once a month. This is an 
executive committee, however, 
nonexecutive directors attend at their 
discretion. The committee Members 
at the year end were:
• Colin Fyfe (Chairman)
• Caroline Darnbrook
• Darren Ditchburn
• Christopher Hunter
• Paul Pimm
• Adam Royal
• Christopher White

of internal controls over financial 
reporting and each of the internal and 
external audit processes.
The committee Members at the year 
end were all non-executive directors 
and were:
• Andrew Gosling (Chairman)
• Alison Thain
Rachel Turnbull retired from her 
position on the Audit Committee on 
31 August 2017. Maxine Pott was 
appointed to the Audit Committee on 
1 January 2018.
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Division of Responsibilities
The offices of Chairman and Chief 
Executive are distinct and held 
by different people. The role of 
each is set out in their letter of 
appointment or service agreement 
and job description. The Chairman 
is responsible for leading the Board, 
setting its agenda and ensuring its 
effectiveness. The Chief Executive is 
responsible for managing the Group’s 
business within the parameters set 
by the Board. To ensure a smooth 
relationship between the Board and 
the Executive, the Chairman and 
Chief Executive maintain an ongoing 
dialogue throughout the year.

Senior Independent 
Director
The Senior Independent Director 
must be independent of management 
and free from any business or other 
relationship that could materially 
interfere with the exercise of their 
independent judgment. In the view 
of the Board, this means that the 
Senior Independent Director cannot 
be an Executive Director. The Board 
appointed Andrew Gosling as the 
Senior Independent Director in 
December 2017 subject to approval 
from the Society’s regulator. Primarily 
the Senior Independent Director 
provides a sounding board for 
the Chairman and to serve as an 
intermediary for the other directors, 
on a confidential basis, when 
necessary.
The Senior Independent Director 
is available to Members for issues 
which have not been resolved by 
either the Chairman, Chief Executive, 
Finance Director or Chief Risk Officer 
As such, they will act to strengthen 
the relationship with our Members by 
providing a complementary channel, 
alongside the Chairman, executives 
and other non-executive directors, to 
reassure Members that they are able 
to communicate effectively with the 
whole board.
The Senior Independent Director is 
responsible for ensuring that there 
is adequate succession planning 
in place for the replacement of the 
Chairman. If the role of Chairman 
becomes vacant, and the Senior 
Independent Director is a candidate, 
they will vacate the role of Senior 
Independent Director during the 
recruitment period.

Non-executive Directors
A specific meeting is held each year 
to consider and refine the strategy 
reflecting external environment and 
internal priorities and to agree future 
strategy . Strategies are documented 
in the Business Plan which is agreed 
by all directors after comprehensive 
debate. The job description of a 
non-executive director includes the 
following requirements:

The Chairman
The Chairman is responsible for 
setting the Board’s agenda and 
ensuring that adequate time is 
available for discussion of all agenda 
items, in particular strategic issues. 
The job description of the Chairman 
includes the following requirements:
• to facilitate and encourage 

contributions from directors on all 
matters relevant to the Board but 
particularly in relation to risk and 
strategy

On Corporate Governance On Corporate Governance
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• to ensure that all non-executive 
directors are able to devote 
sufficient time to their duties

• to require that management 
provide the Board with relevant 
and timely information which gives 
a clear picture of financial and 
business performance as well as 
progress on specific projects

• to ensure Board meetings are 
conducted in an open environment 
which allows all directors to 
express their views freely

• to maintain a professional working 
relationship with the Chief 
Executive and generally amongst 
all directors

• to promote effective 
communication between all 
directors.

In addition the Chairman will ensure 
that all new directors are subject 
to an induction programme which 
is specific to their needs. This will 
include a written development 
plan and an early introduction 
to appropriate building society 
regulations.
Each year the Chairman carries out a 
performance review with all directors. 
The review will identify any training 
and development needs and explore 
how these can be satisfied.
The Chairman will hold a meeting 
each year, or more frequently if 
required, without the executive 
directors being present.
The Chairman has a crucial role in 
ensuring that the needs and views 
of Members are communicated to 
directors and appropriately actioned.

• To constructively challenge and 
develop proposals on strategy. 
Scrutinising the performance of the 
management in meeting agreed 
goals and objectives and monitor 
the reporting of performance

• To ensure the integrity of financial 
information and that financial 
controls and systems of risk 
management are robust and 
defensible in the development and 
challenge of the corporate strategy

• To uphold high standards of 
integrity, and instill the appropriate 
culture, brand values and 
behaviours in the Board room and 
beyond

• To agree the appropriate risk 
strategy,  through the provision 
of information and performance 
in line with regulation and the 
Corporate Governance Code

• To contribute to the Board meeting 
and associated Board Committees 
by devoting appropriate time and 
preparation to effectively dispense 
duties and responsibilities

• To review, assess and challenge 
the data and information presented 
by the Executive

• To meet all regulatory, skill and 
knowledge requirements to 
perform duties under the Senior 
Management Regime that 
professional, industry and sector 
skills and knowledge are current

• To contribute to the evaluation of 
the Board and its committees to 
ensure these are fit for purpose, 
effective and meet governance 
requirements.

The Vice Chairman will lead an 
annual meeting without the Chairman 
present to appraise the Chairman’s 
performance. These meetings will be 
held more frequently if appropriate.
Non-executive directors will satisfy 
themselves on the integrity of the 
Society’s financial information. They 
are also responsible for determining 
appropriate levels of remuneration 
of executive directors and have a 
prime role in appointing and, where 
necessary, removing executive 

Effectiveness
The Composition of the Board
The Board currently comprises three 
executive and six non-executive 
directors. All non-executive directors 
are considered by the Board 
to be independent in character 
and judgement and free of any 
relationship or circumstance which 
is likely to affect, or could appear to 
affect, the director’s judgement.
Jack Cullen does not hold any other 
directorships and the Society is not 
aware of any other potential conflicts 
of interest. Outgoing chair James 
Ramsbotham is a director and Chief 
Executive of North East Chamber 
of Commerce (NECC). Darlington 
Building Society is a member of 
NECC. The Board did not believe 
that this relationship contravened his 
independence as Chairman.
The executive Members of the 
Board are satisfied that the sound 
judgement and challenging approach 
of its independent non-executive 
directors make a significant 
contribution to the Group.
Appointments to the Board
On an annual basis the Nominations 
Committee reviews the balance of 
skills, experience, independence 
and knowledge on the Board 
against the requirements of the 
Group. The Terms of Reference of 
the Nominations Committee, which 
are on our website www.darlington.
co.uk state that the Chairman of the 
Board will not act as Chairman of 
the Nominations Committee when it 
meets to consider his successor.
Following an evaluation of the 
role and capabilities required for 
a particular appointment new 
appointees to the Board are made on 
merit and against objective criteria 
and with due regard for the benefits 
of diversity on the Board, including 
gender. In the light of this evaluation 
the Nominations Committee will 
prepare a description of the role and 
capabilities required for a particular 
appointment. Candidates for non-
executive directorship are identified 
in a variety of ways, including 
inviting applications from Members, 

press advertisements and utilising 
specialist HR Search organisations. 
Eligible Members of the Society have 
the right under the Society’s Rules 
to nominate candidates for election 
to the Board. All directors must meet 
the tests of fitness and propriety laid 
down by the regulator. The regulator 
reserves the right to interview 
candidates before an appointment is 
confirmed.
The Society concentrates upon 
qualitative rather than quantitative 
areas with the desire to recruit 
and retain a diverse workforce. 
Darlington Building Society aims to 
be an inclusive organisation, where 
diversity, equality and respect are 
more highly valued than numerical 
targets for diversity.
The gender diversity of the Group 
as at 31 December 2017 is shown 
below:

Commitment
All letters of appointment contain a 
clause stating that any director must 
be able to devote sufficient time and 
resource to fulfilling the duties of a 
director of a financial services firm.
All directors are appraised during 
the year and this requirement is part 
of the appraisal process. Prior to 
appointment all new non- executive 
directors are required to disclose 
their other commitments together 
with a broad indication of the time 
involved and they agree to notify the 
Board of any subsequent changes.
Existing executive service contracts 
require executive directors to 
disclose similar information.
Development
The Chairman is responsible for 
ensuring that directors continually 
update their skills and knowledge. All 

All 
Employees 26% 74%

Management 46% 54%

Directors 89% 11%

FemaleMale

The Operational and 
Conduct Risk Committee
This committee looks to identify, 
control and manage the Society’s 
operational risks and monitors that 
the Society conduct in treating 
customers fairly, properly and in 
accordance with our stated values.
The committee members at the year 
end were:
• Colin Fyfe (Chairman)
• Niki Barker
• Michael Cowan
• Caroline Darnbrook
• Darren Ditchburn
• Paul Gillson
• Sarah Horley
• Christopher Hunter
• Christopher White 

directors, and in succession 
planning.
Non-executive directors are given 
the opportunity to attend meetings 
with Members. Where directors have 
concerns which cannot be resolved 
about the running of the Society or a 
proposed action, they will ensure that 
their concerns are recorded in the 
Board minutes.
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new directors undergo a formal and 
tailored induction prior to joining the 
Board. All training and development 
needs are identified and satisfied 
both individually and collectively. 
The Chairman also reviews the 
training and development needs of 
all directors as part of their annual 
appraisal.
Information and Support
The Chairman ensures that directors 
receive accurate, timely and clear 
management information. Under 
the direction of the Chairman, 
the Secretary ensures that the 
information flows properly between 
the Board and its committees and 
between executive and the non-
executive directors. All directors have 
access to independent professional 
advice, at the Society’s expense, 
where they judge it necessary to 
discharge their responsibilities as 
directors. All Board committees are 
provided with sufficient resources 
to enable them to undertake their 
duties. The Secretary will also ensure 
that the Board and the Chairman 
are provided with appropriate advice 
regarding relevant governance 
issues. All directors have ready 
access to the Secretary who is 
responsible to the Board for ensuring 
that Board procedures are complied 
with. The Board are responsible 
for both the appointment and the 
removal of the Secretary.
Evaluation
The Board’s performance and 
effectiveness is evaluated 
annually. This evaluation includes 
a consideration of the balance of 
skills, experience, independence 
and knowledge of the Society on 
the Board. In addition the review 
will consider the diversity, how the 
Board works together and any other 
areas which directors feel is relevant. 
In addition every 3 years a Board 
effectiveness review is carried out 
facilitated by an external firm. 
Directors are evaluated by the 
Chairman who will look to ensure 
that each director continues to 
contribute effectively and is able to 
demonstrate commitment to the role. 
The Chairman will act on the results 
of these evaluations by recognising 
the strengths and weaknesses of the 
Board. The Chairman is evaluated by 
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the non-executive directors facilitated 
by the Vice-Chairman and taking into 
account the views of other directors. 
Executive directors are also 
evaluated within the performance 
evaluation framework for employees 
generally and by the Remuneration 
Committee. All Board committees, 
under the direction of the committee 
Chairman, carry out an annual review 
of their effectiveness.
Re-election
The Rules of the Society require 
that all directors are submitted for 
election at the Annual General 
Meeting (the ‘AGM’) following their 
first appointment to the Board, except 
where their appointment occurs in 
the period between the end of the 
Society’s financial year and the AGM 
itself, in which case they must seek 
election at the AGM in the following 
year, and all directors are required to 
seek re-election at least every three 
years after first being elected. If any 
director remains on the Board after 9 
years they will be subject to annual 
re-election.
When a director is seeking re-
election the Chairman will confirm 
that a formal performance evaluation 
has been undertaken, that the 
director’s performance continues to 
be effective and that they continue to 
demonstrate commitment to the role.
The Board’s general policy is that 
non-executive directors should not 
expect to serve more than three full 
three-year terms after election.
The Nominations Committee makes 
recommendations to the Board 
concerning the re-appointment of 
any non-executive director at the 
conclusion of their specified term of 
office.

Accountability
Financial and Business Reporting
The responsibilities of the directors 
in relation to the preparation of the 
Group’s accounts and a statement 
that the Group’s business is a going 
concern can be found on page 38 
within the Directors’ Responsibilities 
in Respect of the Annual Report, 
the Annual Business Statement, the 
Directors’ Report and the Annual 

Accounts. It should be read in 
conjunction with the statement of the 
auditor’s responsibilities on page 43.
Directors ensure that the information 
provided to Members is fair, balanced 
and understandable by providing 
effective challenge to the executive 
and by seeking the views of external 
specialists when necessary. The 
Group will generate and preserve 
value over the longer term by 
providing savings and housing 
services which are valued by our 
Members. 
Risk Management and  
Internal Control
The Board carries out an annual 
review of the effectiveness of 
the Group’s strategies for risk 
management and internal control. 
These strategies are designed to 
manage rather than eliminate the 
risk of failure to achieve business 
objectives and as such should 
be regarded as reasonable, and 
not absolute, assurance against 
material misstatement or loss. 
The Executive are responsible for 
designing, operating and monitoring 
risk management and internal 
control processes. The Board 
Risk Committee is responsible for 
reviewing the adequacy of these 
processes. Its terms of reference 
of the Board Risk Committee are 
published on our website www.
darlington.co.uk. The Group has a 
strong compliance culture which is 
embraced by all staff. The system 
of internal control includes physical 
controls, authorisation limits and 
segregation of duties. There is an 
ongoing process for identifying, 
evaluating and managing the risks 
faced by the Group. The Group 
Internal Audit function is outsourced 
to KPMG under specific terms of 
reference and provides independent 
objective assurance that these 
processes are appropriate and 
applied effectively. The principal 
categories of financial risk inherent in 
the Group’s business are described 
in greater detail on page 20.
The Board has ultimate responsibility 
for ensuring the effectiveness 
of the Group’s systems of risk 
management and internal control. 
Following a review by the Board 
Risk Committee, it is satisfied that 

the Group’s systems are effective, 
have been in place throughout 2017 
and have been regularly reviewed 
by the Board. The committee is also 
satisfied the systems are effective 
up to the date of approval of these 
accounts.
Audit  Committee and Auditors
The Audit Committee is an essential 
part of the Society’s governance 
framework to which the Board has 
delegated oversight of the Society’s 
financial reporting, internal controls, 
internal audit and external audit.
This Committee considers matters 
of internal and external audit 
arrangements, systems of control 
and financial reporting. Full details 
of the work of this Committee can be 
found in the Audit Committee Report 
on pages 32 to 34.

Remuneration
The Level and Component of 
Remuneration
The Report of the Directors on 
Remuneration on page 36 explains 
how the Group applies the Code 
principles relating to remuneration. 
The Terms of Reference for the 
Remuneration Committee are 
published on our website  
www.darlington.co.uk.
Procedure
The Remuneration Committee has 
the delegated responsibility for 
setting remuneration for all executive 
directors, non-executive directors 
and the Chairman, including pension 
rights and any compensation 
payments. The committee also 
recommends and monitors the level 
and structure of remuneration for the 
executive after consultation with the 
Chief Executive. The Remuneration 
Committee may appoint consultants 
to assist its discussions regarding 
executive director remuneration. The 
Remuneration Committee ensures 
that the Group complies with the 
Remuneration Code.
Relations with Shareholders
Dialogue with Shareholders
As a mutual firm, the Society has no 
shareholders and is owned by it’s 
Members, who are also the Society’s 
customers. The Society welcomes 
Members’ views and contact can be 

made with the society at  
www.darlington.co.uk or through the 
branch network.  
Constructive Use of the AGM
Each year the Society sends details 
of the AGM and the ballot for the 
election of directors to all Members 
who are eligible to vote. Members 
are sent voting forms and are 
encouraged to vote either by post, 
internet, or by person or proxy at the 
AGM. All postal and proxy votes are 
counted under independent scrutiny. 
A poll is called in relation to each 
resolution at the AGM and all valid 
proxy votes cast are included in 
the published results of voting. The 
results will be shown on our website 
www.darlington.co.uk.
All Members of the Board are present 
at the AGM each year  (unless 
exceptionally their absence is 
unavoidable) and the Chairmen of 
the Audit , Board Risk, Nominations 
and Remuneration Committees 
are therefore available to answer 
questions.

Jack Cullen, 
Chairman
20 February 2018

On behalf of the Board of Directors.
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The Audit Committee is an essential part of the Society’s 
governance framework to which the Board has delegated 
oversight of the Society’s financial reporting, internal 
controls, internal audit and external audit.  This report 
provides an overview of the Committee’s work and details 
how it has discharged its responsibilities during the year.
The responsibilities of the Committee are in line with 
the provisions of the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) 
Guidance on Audit Committees.
The main function of the Committee is to assist the Board 
in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities, specifically the 
ongoing review, monitoring and assessment of:
• The integrity of the financial statements, any formal 

announcements relating to financial performance and 
significant financial reporting judgements contained in 
them.

• The effectiveness of the system of internal control 
processes.

• The internal audit and external audit processes.
• The appointment, re-appointment and removal of 

the external auditors and the periodic review of their 
performance and independence.

• The policy on the use of external auditors for non-audit 
work.

Following each Committee meeting, the minutes of the 
meeting are distributed to the Board, and the Committee 
Chairman provides an update to the Board on key matters 
discussed by the Committee.
The Committee comprises independent non-executive 
Directors (as detailed on page 25). Andrew Gosling 
chaired the Committee throughout the year. The 
Committee Members have been selected to provide 
the wide range of financial and commercial expertise 
necessary to fulfil the Committee’s duties. The Board 
considers that the chairman of the Committee has recent 
and relevant expertise as required by the UK Corporate 
Governance Code 2016 (the Code).
Meetings are attended by the non-executive Directors, 
and, by invitation, the Chief Executive, the Finance 
Director and the Chief Risk Officer. Other relevant senior 
management are also invited to attend certain meetings 
in order to provide insight and enhance the Committee’s 
awareness of key issues and developments.  The 
outsourced internal auditor, KPMG LLP, and the external 
auditor, Deloitte LLP, are also invited to each meeting. 
The Committee meets with the external auditor and the 
internal auditor without management being present at 
every meeting.
The Committee assists the Board in carrying out 
its responsibilities in relation to financial reporting 
requirements and the assessment of internal controls.

Key areas reviewed during 2017
The Committee met four times during the year and 
focused on the following matters:

1. Financial Reporting
The primary role of the Committee in relation to financial 
reporting is to review and assess, with management and 
the external auditor, the integrity and appropriateness of 
the annual financial statements concentrating on amongst 
other matters:
• The quality and acceptability of accounting policies and 

practices.
• The clarity of the disclosures and compliance with 

financial reporting standards and relevant and 
governance reporting requirements 

• Advise the Board on whether the Annual Report and 
Accounts, when taken as a whole are fair, balanced 
and understandable and provide information sufficient 
for Members to assess the Society’s performance and 
strategy.

• The material areas in which significant judgements 
have been applied or there has been discussion with 
the external auditor.

To aid its review, the Committee considered reports from 
the Chief Executive and Finance Director and reports 
from the external auditor on the outcomes of their annual 
audit.
The Audit Committee, with appropriate input from Deloitte 
LLP, display the necessary scepticism their role requires 
in challenging those areas within the financial statements 
in which material areas in which significant judgements 
have been applied.  The primary areas of judgement 
considered by the Committee in relation to the 2017 
accounts were:
• Loan loss provisions – the review of judgements used 

to determine timing and recognition and valuation of 
loan loss provisions in line with FRS 102 and IAS 39.

• Revenue recognition – review of the design, 
implementation and effectiveness of controls around 
the calculation of interest income and charges, 
including the timing of fees and commission recognition 
under effective interest rate methodologies.

• Hedge accounting – review of systems and processed 
used to calculate effectiveness of hedges and the 
impact on the Income and Expenditure Account and 
the Balance Sheet under IAS 39.

The Committee also considered the following areas of 
judgement:
• Going concern – areas considered included the quality 

of the mortgage book, liquidity structure, wholesale 
borrowing requirements, capital adequacy, pension 
liability, regulatory requirements and budgets and 
forecasts.

• Retirement benefits – judgement required as to the 
assumptions used by the actuary in calculating the 
Plan’s fair value, as well as the recognition of the 
surplus on the Balance Sheet.

• Investment property valuations – the review of 
judgements used to determine the valuation of 
investment properties in line with FRS 102.

The Committee considered whether the 2017 
Annual Report and Accounts were fair, balanced and 
understandable. The Committee did this by satisfying 
itself that there was a robust process of review and 
challenge to ensure balance and consistency.
The Audit Committee fully discharged its responsibilities 
in relation to financial reporting of the Annual Report and 
Accounts in 2017.

2. Internal Audit
The Committee is responsible for monitoring internal audit 
activities and effectiveness and ensuring that sufficient 
resources are in place. In order to provide the scalability 
and flexibility of specialist resources required within 
internal audit, the Society continues to outsource this 
work to KPMG LLP (KPMG). This enables the Society to 
leverage the skills and expertise of an external specialist 
provider who has extensive depth of resources.
Key reviews were completed through their agreed work 
programme during the year in a broad range of areas 
including Operational and Credit Risk Management, 
Capital Management, Recovery Planning and Mortgage 
Advice and Suitability.
Internal audit findings and thematic issues identified were 
considered by the Committee, as well as management’s 
response and the tracking and completion of outstanding 
actions.
The Committee considers guidance from the Chartered 
Institute of Internal Auditors entitled ‘Effective Internal 
Audit in the Financial Services Sector’ when ensuring 
that the internal auditors and the Committee were fulfilling 
their obligations in a robust manner.
The Committee also approved the fee for the programme 
of internal audit work for the year having reviewed the 
scope of the work programme in detail.

3. System of Internal Controls
The Board recognises the importance of sound systems 
of internal control in the achievement of its objectives 
and the safeguarding of Members’ and Society assets.  
Internal control also facilitates the effectiveness and 
efficiency of operations, helps to ensure the reliability of 
internal and external reporting and assists in compliance 
with applicable laws and regulations.
The Society operates in a dynamic business environment 
and, as a result, the risks it faces are continually 
changing.  The internal control framework has been 
designed to ensure thorough and regular evaluation of 
the nature and extent of risk and the Society’s ability 
to react accordingly.  It is the role of management to 

implement the Board’s policies on risk and control.  It is 
also recognised that all employees have responsibility for 
internal control as part of their accountability for achieving 
objectives.  Staff training and induction is designed to 
ensure that they are clear on their accountabilities in 
this area and are competent to operate and monitor the 
internal control framework.
The internal audit function provided independent 
assurance to the Board on the effectiveness of the 
internal control framework through the Audit Committee.
The Committee reviewed this aspect through regular 
reporting from management, the Society’s internal auditor 
and the external auditor.
The main internal control matters which were reviewed by 
the Committee in 2017 were:
• Conduct related issues.
• Prudential related issues.
• Internal audit plans and the results of reviews 

completed by KPMG in the year.
• Control reports from the external auditor in relation to 

the financial reporting process arising from the external 
audit.  During the year, Deloitte did not highlight any 
material control weaknesses.

• The status of issues raised in control reports which 
were tracked closely.  During the year, the volume and 
age profile of issues raised remained within appropriate 
parameters.

• Whistleblowing arrangements.  The Committee reviews 
the use of the confidential reporting channels in the 
Society.  Awareness of ‘whistleblowing’ arrangements 
is maintained in a number of ways including internal 
communications and training modules.

The information received and considered by the 
Committee provided reasonable assurance during 
2017 that there were no material breaches of control 
or regulatory standards and that, overall, the Society 
maintained an adequate internal control framework that 
met the principals of the Code.

4. External Audit
The effectiveness of the external audit process is 
dependent on appropriate audit risk identification and at 
the start of the audit cycle. The Committee received from 
Deloitte a detailed audit plan, identifying their assessment 
of the key risks.  
The Committee holds a private meeting with the external 
auditor and internal auditor at every Audit Committee 
meeting.  This provides the opportunity for open dialogue 
and feedback from the Committee and the auditor 
without management being present.  Matters typically 
discussed include the auditor’s assessment of business 
risks and management’s activity in relation to these 
risks, the transparency and openness of interactions 
with management, confirmation that there has been no 
restriction in scope placed on them by management, 
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independence of their audit and how they have exercised 
professional scepticism.  The Chairman of the Audit 
Committee also meets the external audit partner outside 
the formal Committee process during the year.
The Committee considers the reappointment of the 
external auditor, including rotation of the audit partner, 
each year and also assesses their independence on an 
ongoing basis.  Under the European Audit Regulation and 
Directive, the Society is required to put out the external 
audit service to tender at least every ten years.  The 
external auditor is required to rotate the audit partner 
responsible for the Society’s audit at least every five 
years.  
Deloitte were appointed in 2016 following a competitive 
tendering process.  The audit in relation to the 2017 
results was the second for Deloitte and for the current 
audit partner, David Heaton.
The Committee approved the fees for the audit services 
for 2017 after a review of the level and nature of the work 
to be performed and being satisfied that the fees were 
appropriate for the scope of the work required.
A further safeguard to help avoid the objectivity and 
the independence of the external auditor becoming 
compromised, the Committee has a formal policy 
governing the engagement of the external auditor to 
provide non-audit services.  The Committee reviewed 
the level of non-audit fees paid to the external auditor 
throughout the year and was content that these fees have 
not impaired the objectivity and independence of Deloitte.  
In addition, the objectivity and independence is protected 
in the provision of non-audit services by individual terms 
of engagement for each assignment.  Under Audit 
Independence rules, the Society is not able to engage 
Deloitte to assist with tax services.

5. Audit Committee Effectiveness
The Committee regularly conducts a formal self-
assessment review to monitor its effectiveness.  The 
review uses anonymous questionnaires completed by 
Committee Members and regular attendees at meetings.
The last review concluded that the Committee had 
operated effectively and in accordance with its Terms of 
Reference.  The Committees’ Terms of Reference were 
reviewed during the year and found to be fit for purpose.

Andrew Gosling
Chairman of the Audit Committee
20 February 2018

On behalf of the Audit Committee

Savings

Saving small amounts 
regularly can make a 
big difference on your 
big day
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on Remuneration

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Introduction
As a mutual run for the benefit of 
our membership, the Society needs 
high quality Directors to fulfil the 
requirements of Members and other 
customers and who, in return are 
rewarded fairly for directing and 
managing the firm.

Remuneration of Directors should 
be sufficient to ensure high calibre 
candidates are attracted to the Society 
as well as retained. It is, however, 
important that remuneration is not 
greater than necessary to achieve 
these goals. Remuneration and 
incentives are structured to encourage 
good culture, appropriate behaviour 
and the long term success of the 
Society. 

The Executive Directors receive a 
basic salary, a pension entitlement 
and other taxable benefits. The 
Executive, including the Executive 
Directors, are all eligible for a short 
term incentive bonus and medium term 
bonus scheme. Disbursement of funds 
from the Society’s bonus schemes is 
dependent on performance targets 
designed to promote the Society’s 
strength and success being met. The 
performance targets of the scheme 
are not limited to financial metrics and 
include the assessment of criteria such 
as the management of key projects 
and goals. The terms and rules of the 
short term incentive and medium term 
bonus schemes are detailed further 
later in this report.

The Chairman and non-executive 
directors receive an annual fee. No 
variable or performance related fees 
or incentives are paid to the non-
executive directors or Chairman.

The Regulatory Remuneration Code 
whilst designed for large banks and 
building societies has been adopted, 
where possible, and relevant details 
have been incorporated into the Terms 
of Reference of the Remuneration 
Committee which are published on our 
website www.darlington.co.uk. 

The Society applies the principles 
of the UK Corporate Governance 
Code September 2014 relating 
to remuneration. The Society’s 
Remuneration Policy also complies 
with relevant regulations including the 

Remuneration Part of the Prudential 
Regulation Authority’s Rulebook and 
the Financial Conduct Authority’s 
Remuneration Code for dual regulated 
firms (SYSC 19D).

Executive Directors
The remuneration of the Executive 
Directors is considered annually by the 
remuneration committee. Basic salary 
is assessed based on the roles and 
responsibilities of individual Directors 
referenced against the remuneration in 
comparable organisations (by industry, 
size and complexity). As a mutual 
organisation, the Society is not able to 
offer executive directors the opportunity 
to participate in, or benefit from share 
option schemes.

The executive directors are all entitled 
to become Members of the Darlington 
Building Society defined contribution 
scheme. 

The Service Contract for all executive 
directors includes a contractual notice 
period of 12 months. The executive 
directors are required to provide 
nine months’ notice of their intent to 
leave the Society. Executive Directors 
Service Contracts also state that during 
the period of employment with the 
Society executive directors may only 
carry out remunerated work for another 
organisation with the express consent 
of the Board. In such cases any 
remuneration, other than expenses, 
are passed to the Society.

During the year there were no 
severance or sign-on payments made 
to any director.

Executive Bonus Scheme
Variable remuneration of the Executive, 
including the Executive Directors, is 
operated in two parts; a short term 
incentive bonus scheme and a medium 
term bonus scheme. 

Short Term Bonus
Payment of the Society’s short 
term incentive bonus for 2017 is 
dependent on a wide range of business 
performance measures including 
financial metrics such as the Society’s 
capital and audited profit. In addition 
the scheme takes account of other, 
non-financial factors, including staff 

engagement and satisfaction, conduct 
risk and customer outcomes as well as 
management of key Society projects 
and initiatives.

Medium Term Bonus
The Society also operates a medium 
term bonus scheme which rewards 
consistent performance over a three 
year period. Remuneration Committee 
may annually increase the balance 
held within the medium term bonus 
scheme by a sum limited to the 
balance paid under the short term 
incentive bonus. 

Payments from the medium term 
bonus are made after three years to 
Executives when the Remuneration 
Committee are satisfied the medium 
and long term objectives of the Society 
are being met by the Executive team 
and individual executives.

Triggers are in place to ensure 
that no bonus will be payable from 
either scheme if profit or capital fall 
below pre-determined levels. The 
Remuneration Committee has full 
discretion over the payment of the 
short term incentive bonus as well as 
any additions to or payments from the 
medium term bonus scheme.

Non-Executive Directors
Non-executive directors receive fees 
for the provision of their services which 
are reviewed annually. No variable or 
performance related fees or incentives 
are paid to the non-executive directors 
or Chairman. Non-executive directors 
do not receive other benefits or a 
pension entitlement. 

Full details of Executive Director and 
Non-Executive Director remuneration 
for the year ended 31 December 2017 
as well as the balances accrued and 
held within the medium term bonus 
scheme can be found in Note 7 to the 
Accounts.

Gross Capital as a 
Percentage of Shares and 
Borrowings
Gross capital comprises the general 
reserve of profits retained in the 
business and the revaluation reserve 
to provide a financial cushion against 
any difficulties which might arise 
and therefore protects investors. 
When gross capital is expressed 
as a percentage of shares and 
borrowings, it illustrates the 
proportion by which the Group’s 
activities are funded by accumulated 
reserves. Our gross capital ratio is 
stable. Strong capital demonstrates 
that your Society provides a safe 
home for investors’ funds.

Liquid assets as a 
Percentage of Shares and 
Borrowings
Liquid assets comprise cash, short-
term deposits, and authorised 
investments such as government 
securities which can be converted 
readily into cash. The liquid asset 
ratio measures the Group’s assets 
held as a proportion of the Group’s 
liabilities to investors. Liquid assets 
enable the Group to meet investors’ 
requests for withdrawals from their 
accounts, to make new mortgage 
loans and to fund general business 
activities.

Management Expenses 
as a Percentage of Mean 
Total Assets
The management expenses ratio 
measures the Group’s administrative 
expenses (including depreciation) 
as a proportion of the average of 
the Group’s total assets during the 
year. Management expenses consist 
mainly of the costs of running the 
Group’s branches and head office, 
including the costs of employing staff.  
Expenses will continue to be tightly 
controlled to ensure that the Group 
operates as efficiently as possible 
while providing the service required 
by our Members.

Group Profit after Tax
As a mutual building society our 
objective is to optimise, rather than 
to maximise, our profit. Directors aim 
to ensure that the Group generates 
sufficient profit to protect our capital 
ratios   whilst providing value to 
Members through our products 
and services. The amount of profit 
generated continues to be reduced 
by payments to the Financial 
Services Compensation Scheme in 
respect of failed financial institutions.

Leverage Ratio
The leverage ratio is a measure of 
capital adequacy: capital divided 
by total assets, expressed as a 
percentage. In the UK we normally 
use the term “gearing” to describe 
the enhancement of return a 
business owner expects by using 
not only his own capital, but also 
borrowed money, to finance the 
business. The European Union has 
now defined the ratio and the ratio 
has been calculated in line with the 
Capital Requirements Directive  
(CRD IV). 

A 3% minimum leverage ratio 
requirement applies to UK Global 
Systemically Important Institution 
and major UK banks and building 
societies on a consolidated basis. 
Whilst the Society falls outside of this 
requirement it continues to measure 
its position against this benchmark as 
an example of best practice. As the 
Society has no external capital, all 
capital is classed as Tier 1.

Alison Thain
Chairman of Remuneration Committee
20 February 2018

On behalf of the Board of Directors

FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The Group measures performance 
and fulfilment of strategic 
objectives utilising a balanced 
scorecard within which a number 
of financial performance indicators 
are monitored. To the right are five 
financial Key Performance Indicators 
of the Group required by statute. 
The Group’s management and Board 
assess its performance on a range of 
financial and non-financial metrics. 
These are discussed on page 17 of 
the Directors Report.

Key Performance Indicator 2017 2016

Gross capital as a percentage of shares and borrowings 7.92% 7.98%

Liquid assets as a percentage of shares and borrowings 17.49% 20.77%

Management expenses as a percentage of mean total assets 1.39% 1.43%

Group Profit after tax (£ million) 1.51 1.41

Leverage Ratio (Society) 7.27% 7.29%

Year Ended 31 December

Jack Cullen, 
Chairman
20 February 2018

On behalf of the Board of Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT STATEMENT
TO THE MEMBERS OF DARLINGTON BUILDING SOCIETY

The Group and Society Annual Accounts are required by 
law to give a true and fair view of the state of the affairs 
of the Group and the Society as at the end of the financial 
year, of the income and expenditure of the Group and the 
Society for the financial year and of the cash flows of the 
Group and Society for the financial year.
In preparing each of the Group and Society Annual 
Accounts, the directors are required to:
• select appropriate accounting policies and apply them 

consistently
• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable 

and prudent
• state whether applicable accounting standards have 

been followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the accounts

• prepare the Annual Accounts on the going concern 
basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
Group will continue in business.

In addition to the Annual Accounts, the Act requires the 
directors to prepare, for each financial year, an Annual 
Business Statement and a Directors’ Report, each 
containing prescribed information relating to the business 
of the Group.

The directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group:
• keeps proper accounting records that disclose with 

reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position 
of the Group and Society in accordance with the Act.

• takes reasonable care to establish, maintain, document 
and review such systems and controls as are 
appropriate to its business in accordance with the rules 
made by the Financial Services Authority under the 
Financial Services and Markets Act 2000.

The directors have general responsibility for taking such 
steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the 
assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and 
other irregularities.
The directors are responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the corporate and financial information 
included on the Group’s website. Legislation in the UK 
governing the preparation and dissemination of Annual 
Accounts may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Jack Cullen, 
Chairman
20 February 2018

On behalf of the Board of Directors.

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
In our opinion the financial 
statements:

• give a true and fair view of 
the state of the Group’s and 
the Society’s affairs as at 31 
December 2017 and of the 
Group’s and the Society’s 
income and expenditure for the 
year then ended;

• have been properly prepared 
in accordance with United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice including 
Financial Reporting Standard 
102 “The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland”;

• have been prepared in 
accordance with the 
requirements of the Building 
Societies Act 1986.

We have audited the financial 
statements of Darlington Building 
Society (the “Society”) and its 
subsidiaries (the “Group”) which 
comprise:

• the Group and Society Income and 
Expenditure Account;

• the Group and Society Statements 
of Comprehensive Income;

• the Group and Society Balance 
Sheets;

• the Group and Society Statement 
of Changes in Equity;

• the Group and Society Cash Flow 
Statements;

• the statement of accounting 
policies; and

• the related notes 1 to 27.
The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law 
and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards, Financial Reporting 
Standard 102 “The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and Republic of Ireland” 
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice).

Key audit matters The key audit matters that we identified in the current year were:
• Loan loss provisions
• Hedge accounting
• Revenue recognition

Materiality The Group materiality that we used in the current year was 
£205,000 which was determined on the basis of Net Assets.

The Society materiality that we used in the current year was 
£204,500 which was determined on the basis of Net Assets

Scoping All trading subsidiaries were subject to full scope audit procedures 
performed to an appropriate materiality.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on 
Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group and the Society in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements 
in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to public interest 
entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. We confirm that the non-audit services prohibited by 
the FRC’s Ethical Standard were not provided to the Group or the Society.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, 
were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the 
current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material 
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters 
included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, 
the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the 
engagement team.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Summary of our audit approach

We have nothing 
to report in 
respect of these 
matters.

The directors are responsible for preparing the 
Annual Report, Annual Business Statement, 

Directors’ Report and the Annual Accounts in 
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

The Building Societies Act (“the Act”) requires 
the directors to prepare Group and Society 

Annual Accounts for each financial year. 
Under that legislation they elected to prepare 

the Group and Society Annual Accounts in 
accordance with UK Accounting Standards 

and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice), including Financial 

Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial 
Reporting Standard Applicable in the UK and 

Republic of Ireland (FRS 102)”.

38

We are required by ISAs (UK) to report in respect of the 
following matters where:

• the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in preparation of the financial statements 
is not appropriate; or

• the directors have not disclosed in the financial 
statements any identified material uncertainties that 
may cast significant doubt about the Group’s or 
the Society’s ability to continue to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounting for a period of at least 
twelve months from the date when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF DARLINGTON BUILDING SOCIETY TO THE MEMBERS OF DARLINGTON BUILDING SOCIETY

Report on the audit of the financial statements Report on the audit of the financial statements

Key audit matter description The Group holds £2.2 million of loan loss provisions at year end (2016: £2.1 million) against 
total loans and advances to customers of £481.9 million (2016: £434.3 million).

The calculation of specific loan loss provisions against residential customer loans is a 
judgemental process, requiring the estimation of customer default rates and forced sale 
discounts. For collective residential provisions, management apply a model which includes 
the use of historical data and judgements regarding the impact of macro-economic factors 
such as house price volatility and expected force sales values.

Significant judgements are also made by Management in terms of determining if an 
impairment trigger has been reached in terms of loans within the commercial loan portfolio. 
Whilst the Society uses qualified external and independent valuers, valuations obtained 
to establish exposures can be highly subjective due to a lack of comparable properties or 
observable market data available.

There is a risk of fraud inherent in the application of loan loss provisioning given the 
material impact of Management judgements on the final figure. Loan loss provision 
balances are detailed within note 12. Management’s associated accounting policies are 
detailed on page 52 with detail about judgements in applying accounting policies and 
critical accounting estimates on page 53. The Audit Committee’s consideration of this risk is 
included on page 32.

How the scope of our audit 
responded to the key audit 
matter

We evaluated the design and implementation of internal controls over the our audit 
provisioning process. We also tested the operating effectiveness of controls to residential  
lending and internal calculations. This included reviewing minutes from key management 
review forums and evaluating the level of challenge by key management personnel over 
the calculation of the year-end provisions and subsequent action.

We used data analytics to re-perform the underlying residential provisioning calculation 
(specific and collective).

We evaluated the historical data used in the specific and collective provisioning models, 
testing the underlying data for completeness and accuracy. We also challenged the 
assumptions applied by management. For assumptions applied where there has been 
limited observable data in the current year such as the forced sale discount, we have 
benchmarked these assumptions to similar building societies to assess their ongoing 
suitability.

We assessed the completeness and validity of Management’s identified impairment 
triggers in the commercial loan book, and tested a sample of performing loans to determine 
whether these had experienced any of the trigger events requiring specific provision. In 
addition we evaluated the adequacy of property valuations used in determining commercial 
loan provisions, including consultation with our commercial real estate specialists. We 
have also assessed the appropriateness of the probabilities of default used in the collective 
provisioning, considering the reduced number of loans to base the assumption on.

We tested the mechanical accuracy of the significant loan provisioning models, including 
engaging our data analytics specialists to test data flows into the models to assess whether 
the data was complete and accurate.

Key observations For residential and commercial provisions, the Credit Committee reviewed the assumptions 
applied and, taking account of the continuing low volume of possessions in recent periods, 
considered them to be appropriate. We challenged these assumptions and consider the 
provisions recognised are reasonable.

The methodology applied in the current period is consistent with that adopted in the prior 
period, and is considered to be appropriate for the year ended 31 December 2017.

We have reviewed the impairment triggers identified by Management within the commercial 
mortgage portfolio and deem these to be reasonable. We performed detailed tests on a 
sampled basis of the commercial provisions; we consider that the provisions determined 
were appropriate and reflected an appropriate valuation of the security held on the 
exposures.

Key audit matter description The Society applies hedge accounting to its fair value macro hedge in order to minimise 
the volatility of fair value movement in the income statement. As the macro hedge evolves, 
hedged items and the associated derivative, incept and de-designate from the hedge 
relationship.

When hedge relationships are entered into it is possible they are not in compliance with IAS 
39, which requires both the appropriate documentation being in place and that the items 
have been correctly designated into a hedge relationship.

Hedge accounting is a complex area, which requires a detailed understanding of 
the accounting framework in order to recognise and subsequently measure hedge 
relationships. In addition, this area requires Management to apply judgment in determining 
whether a hedge is effective or not, which should be supported by complex accounting 
calculations.

The hedge accounting journals that are posted should be complete and accurate to ensure 
any hedge ineffectiveness is correctly included in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

The fair value adjustment to the hedged item and the fair value of derivatives are detailed 
within note 26. Management’s associated accounting policies are detailed on page 51 with 
detail about judgements in applying accounting policies and critical accounting estimates 
on page 54. The Audit Committee’s consideration of this risk is included on page 32.

How the scope of our audit 
responded to the key audit 
matter

We evaluated the design and implementation of internal controls over the our audit hedge 
accounting process. We tested the valuation of hedging instruments and hedged items 
on a sample basis through independent recalculation by our internal financial instruments 
specialists. We challenged the appropriateness of key inputs into the valuations such as 
interest rates, counterparty credit ratings and valuation adjustments.

In addition, we obtained evidence of the prospective and retrospective effectiveness 
testing, which is required under IAS 39, to determine that hedge relationships continue to 
meet certain criteria. We have also tested the valuation of the hedge journals posted by 
testing that the journals correctly reconcile to the output of the hedge effectiveness reports.

We also performed procedures upon source data extracted from the Society’s core 
treasury system to identify whether the population of derivative data was accurate and 
complete, as well as reviewing confirmations received from counterparties and banks.

Key observations Based on the work performed we concluded that hedge accounting was appropriately 
applied and the accounting entries upon designation of the portfolio hedge were consistent 
with IAS 39.

No errors were noted through our independent valuations work in either the hedging 
instrument or hedged item. We have identified no issues with the fair value hedge 
accounting applied by the Society.

Loan loss provisions Hedge Accounting
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Key audit matter description The calculation of the Effective Interest Rate (“EIR”) used to allocate description 
interest income on loans and receivables requires significant judgement in the 
determination of the key assumptions, which are the behavioural life of mortgages and 
prepayment rates. These calculations are based upon historical data and estimates of 
future economic conditions.

Discounts, cashbacks, arrangement and valuation fees, and costs directly attributable to 
establishing the mortgage are held on the balance sheet and amortised over the expected 
life of the associated mortgage portfolios.

There is a presumed risk of fraud in revenue recognition given the judgement in 
determining key assumptions.

The interest income balances are detailed within note 2. Management’s associated 
accounting policies are detailed on page 50 with detail about judgements in applying 
accounting policies and critical accounting estimates on page 53. The Audit Committee’s 
consideration of this risk is included on page 32.

How the scope of our audit 
responded to the key audit 
matter

We have reviewed the  approach to revenue  recognition to determine whether it is 
consistent with the applicable accounting standards. 

We challenged Management’s assumptions in relation to the calculation of the EIR by 
reference to historic data on behavioural lives, which we tested for completeness and 
accuracy. We utilised our internal Data Analytics specialists to perform a recalculation of the 
behavioural life model using underlying source data.

We also considered the treatment of directly attributable fees and charges arising on 
mortgages by reviewing Management’s judgements against IAS 39, and independently 
verified the completeness and accuracy of the data used to perform the calculation.

Key observations The results of our testing showed that the underlying methodology and assumptions used 
for the determination of the behavioural lives of mortgages and prepayment rates and for 
the calculation of EIR adjustment are reasonable. The calculation is materially accurate 
in the context of the accounting policies and the requirements of the relevant accounting 
standards.

Revenue Recognition

Our application of materiality
We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable that the 
economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use materiality both in 
planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

An overview of the scope of our audit
Our Group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment, including group-wide 
controls, and assessing the risks of material misstatement at the group level. Based on that assessment, we performed 
a full audit of the Society and of its trading subsidiary Darlington Homes Limited executed at a level of materiality 
applicable to the individual entity which was lower than Group materiality at £143,000.
We, as the Group auditor, were responsible for performing the audit of each subsidiary. At the Group level we also 
tested the consolidation process.

Other information

Responsibilities of Directors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities 
statement, the Directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the Directors determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud  
or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are 
responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Society’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using  
the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the 
Society or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in excess of £10,000 
for the Group and the Society, as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on 
qualitative grounds. We also report to the Audit Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the 
overall presentation of the financial statements.

Group materiality £205,000

Society  materiality £204,500

Basis for determining 
materiality 0.5 % of Net Assets

Rationale for the 
benchmark applied

We consider this is an appropriate 
benchmark to use because the Society’s 
aim is to maintain a strong asset base 
that will allow the Group to invest in 
activities for its Members including 
increasing future lending. Equity

Equity £42.77m

Group Materiality

Group Materiality
£0.205m

Audit Committee 
reporting threshold 
£0.01m

We have nothing to 
report in respect of 
these matters.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF DARLINGTON BUILDING SOCIETY TO THE MEMBERS OF DARLINGTON BUILDING SOCIETY

Report on the audit of the financial statements Report on the audit of the financial statements

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
the information included in the annual report including Chairman’s Statement, the Chief 
Executive Officer’s Review, the Director’s Report, the Report of the Directors on Corporate 
Governance, the Report of the Directors on Remuneration, the Directors Responsibilities 
Statement, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information, as defined 
above, and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are 
required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements 
or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at:  
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description 
forms part of our auditor’s report.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Building Societies Act 1986
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
• the annual business statement and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 

the Building Societies Act 1986;
• the information given in the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is 

consistent with the financial statements; and
• the information given in the annual business statement (other than the information upon which we are not required to 

report) gives a true representation of the matters in respect of which it is given.
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the society and their environment obtained in the 
course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the directors’ report.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Capital Requirements (Country-by-
Country Reporting) Regulations 2013
In our opinion the information given on page 54 for the financial year ended 31 December 2017 has been properly 
prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) 
Regulations 2013.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Other matters
Auditor tenure
Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were appointed by the Society on 18 February 2016 to audit 
the financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2016 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total 
uninterrupted engagement is 2 years, covering the period from our initial appointment through to the period ending 31 
December 2017.
Consistency of the audit report with the additional report to the Audit Committee
Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the audit committee we are required to provide in 
accordance with ISAs (UK).

We have nothing to 
report in respect of 
these matters.

David Heaton (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor
Manchester UK
20 February 2018

THE Accounts

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF DARLINGTON BUILDING SOCIETY

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the Society’s Members, as a body, in accordance with section 78 of the Building Societies 
Act 1986. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Society’s Members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the society and the society’s Members as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records

Under the Building Societies Act 1986 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the society; or
• the Society’s financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records; or
• we have not received all the information and explanations and access to documents 

we require for our audit.
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Group

Group

Society

Society

Note 2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Interest receivable and similar income 2 13,841 14,150 13,841 14,150 
Interest payable and similar charges 3 (4,171) (5,073) (4,171) (5,073)

Net interest receivable 9,670 9,077 9,670 9,077 
Fees and commissions receivable  318 342 318 342 
Fees and commissions payable (104) (95) (104) (95)
Pension finance (expense)/income 27 (106) 43 (106) 43 
Changes in fair value of investment properties 15 (381) (139) (41) (39)
Other operating income 4 466 316 61 56 
Net losses from derivative financial instruments 26 (1) (36) (1) (36)

Total income 9,862 9,508 9,797 9,348 
Administrative expenses 5 (7,499) (7,191) (7,485) (7,157)
Depreciation 14 (394) (550) (394) (550)

Total administrative expenses (7,893) (7,741) (7,879) (7,707)

Operating profit before provisions 1,969 1,767 1,918 1,641 
Provisions for bad and doubtful debts 12 (179) (15) (179) (15)
Provision for contribution to financial services compensation scheme 23 79 25 79 25 

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 1,869 1,777 1,818 1,651 
Tax on profit on ordinary activities 8 (359) (366) (349) (341)

Profit for the financial year 1,510 1,411 1,469 1,310 

Note 2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Profit for the financial year 1,510 1,411 1,469 1,310 

Other comprehensive income/(expense):
Movement in actuarial gain/(loss) recognised in the pension plan 27 1,544 (2,624) 1,544 (2,624)
Movement in deferred tax relating to the pension plan 8 (262) 441 (262) 441 

Other comprehensive income for the year net of tax 1,282 (2,183) 1,282 (2,183)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) 2,792 (772) 2,751 (873)

The above results are wholly derived from continuing operations.

The notes on pages 50 to 84 form part of these Accounts.

Group Society
Note 2017 

£,000
2016 
£,000

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Assets
Liquid assets

  Cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England 58,219 49,237 58,219 49,237
  Loans and advances to credit institutions 9 16,784 25,108 16,617 24,971
  Debt securities 10 19,444 29,848 19,444 29,848

94,447 104,193 94,280 104,056
Loans and advances to customers

  Loans fully secured on residential property 464,013 412,838 464,013 412,838
  Other loans 17,895 21,422 17,895 21,422

11 481,908 434,260 481,908 434,260
Derivative financial instruments 26 326 124 326 124
Investments

  Investments in subsidiaries 13  -    -   8,184 8,184
Tangible fixed assets 14 2,198 1,544 2,198 1,544
Investment Properties 15 5,654 6,035 214 255
Other assets 16  -   456  -   456
Prepayments and accrued income 17 467 336 359 336
Pension asset 27 772  -   772  -   

Total assets 585,772 546,948 588,241 549,215

Liabilities
Shares 18 505,379 469,212 505,379 469,212
Amounts owed to credit institutions 19 12,371 2,997 12,371 2,997
Amounts owed to other customers 20 22,221 29,543 24,821 32,143
Derivative financial instruments 26 559 1,131 559 1,131
Other liabilities 21 281 430 271 258
Accruals and deferred income 22 1,400 964 1,387 870
Provisions for liabilities 23 231 458 231 458
Pension liability 27 561 2,236 561 2,236

543,003 506,971 545,580 509,305
Reserves

   General reserve 42,769 39,977 42,661 39,910

Total liabilities 585,772 546,948 588,241 549,215

The notes on pages 50 to 84 form part of these Accounts.

The Accounts on pages 46 to 84 were approved by the Board of Directors on 20 February 2018 and signed on its behalf by

Jack Cullen 
Chairman

Colin Fyfe 
Chief Executive

Alison C Thain 
Vice Chairman

Income and Expenditure Accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2017

Balance Sheets
as at 31 December 2017

Statements of Comprehensive Income  
for the year ended 31 December 2017
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Group Society
Note 2017 

£,000
2016 
£,000

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Balance as at 1 January  39,977 40,749  39,910 40,783 

Profit for the financial year  1,510 1,411  1,469 1,310 

Actuarial gain/(loss) recognised in the pension plan 27 1,544 (2,624) 1,544 (2,624)

Movement in deferred tax relating to the pension plan 8 (262) 441 (262) 441 

Other comprehensive expense for the year 1,282 (2,183) 1,282 (2,183)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year 2,792 (772) 2,751 (873)

Balance as at 31 December 42,769 39,977 42,661 39,910 

The notes on pages 50 to 84 form part of these Accounts.

Group Society
Note 2017 

£,000
2016 
£,000

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 1,869 1,777 1,818 1,651 
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments and accrued income 61 (79) 169 (91)
Increase/(decrease) in accruals and deferred income 133 (90) 214 52 
Provisions for bad and doubtful debts 12 179 15 179 15 
Loans and advances written off net of recoveries (58) (128) (58) (128)
Changes in fair value of investment properties 15 381 139 41 39 
Depreciation and amortisation 14 394 550 394 550 
Provisions for liabilities (227) (82) (227) (82)
Loss on sale of tangible assets 7 23 7 23 
Contributions to final salary pension plan 27 (1,009) (848) (1,009) (848)
Pension expense/(income) in respect of final salary pension plan 27 106 (43) 106 (43)

Net cash inflow from trading activities 1,836 1,234 1,634 1,138 

Net increase in loans and advances to customers (47,769) (26,967) (47,769) (26,967)
Net decrease in investments in subsidiaries  -    -    -   1,241 
Net increase in shares 36,391 12,528 36,391 12,528 
Net increase in amounts owed to credit institutions  
and other customers 2,131 1,197 2,131 1,197 

Net decrease in loans and advances to credit institutions 5,510 4,720 5,510 4,720 
(Decrease)/increase in net derivative financial liabilities (774) 343 (774) 343 
Net decrease/(increase) in other assets 25 396 25 (25)
Net decrease in other liabilities (151) (107) (5) (70)

(4,637) (7,890) (4,491) (7,033)

Taxation (188) (436) (162) (391)

Net cash generated from operating activities (2,989) (7,092) (3,019) (6,286)

Purchase of debt securities 10 (25,953) (31,201) (25,953) (31,201)
Sale and maturity of debt securities 10 36,195 40,511 36,195 40,511 
Purchase of tangible fixed assets 14 (1,055) (139) (1,055) (139)
Sale of investment properties 15 - 275 - 275 

9,187 9,446 9,187 9,446 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 6,198 2,354 6,168 3,160 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 62,441 60,087 62,304 59,144 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 68,639 62,441 68,472 62,304 

Cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England 58,219 49,237 58,219 49,237 
Loans and advances to credit institutions repayable on demand 9 10,420 13,204 10,253 13,067 

Cash and cash equivalents 68,639 62,441 68,472 62,304 

The notes on pages 50 to 84 form part of these Accounts.

Statements of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2017

Cash Flow Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2017
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1. Statement of Accounting Policies

General Information  
The Society is a Building Society 
incorporated in Darlington, UK under 
the Building Societies Act 1986 and 
the Building Societies Act 1997. The 
address of its registered office is Sentinel 
House, Morton Road, Darlington, County 
Durham, DL1 4PT.

Basis of Preparation  
The Accounts are prepared under the 
historical cost convention as modified by 
the revaluation of investment properties 
and in accordance with the Building 
Societies Act 1986, the Building Societies 
(Accounts and Related Provisions) 
Regulations 1998 and United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards, including 
Financial Reporting Standard 102, 
‘‘The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the United Kingdom and 
the Republic of Ireland’’ (‘‘FRS 102’’) and 
the Group and Society has chosen to 
adopt the recognition and measurement 
provisions of IAS 39 which applies to 
derivative financial instruments and 
financial instruments classified at fair 
value through the profit or loss (‘FVTPL’). 
The Group and Society Annual Report 
and Accounts have been prepared in 
accordance with the applicable standards 
and the following principal accounting 
policies have been applied consistently 
throughout the current year and the prior 
year.

As noted in the Directors’ Report, the 
directors are satisfied that the Group 
has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable 
future and therefore these Accounts are 
prepared on a going concern basis.

An analysis by geographical operations 
has not been provided as the Group’s 
business is wholly based within the 
United Kingdom.

Basis of Consolidation
The Group Accounts include the results 
of the Society and its subsidiaries all of 
which have year ends of 31 December. 
Uniform accounting policies are adopted 
throughout the Group.

In the Society’s Accounts, investments 
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less 
provision for any impairment. Income 
from investments is recognised in the 
Society’s Income and Expenditure 
Account when they are declared.

Exemptions for qualifying entities 
under FRS 102  
FRS 102 allows a qualifying entity certain 
disclosure exemptions. A qualifying 
entity is defined as a member of a 
group that prepares publicly available 
financial statements, which give a true 
and fair view, in which that member 
is consolidated. Darlington Building 
Society is a qualifying entity as its results 
are consolidated into its consolidated 
financial statements which are publicly 
available.

As a qualifying entity, the Group and 
Society has taken advantage of the 
exemption under paragraph 35.10(p) of 
FRS 102 in respect of lease incentives 
on leases in existence on the date of 
transition to FRS 102 and continues 
to credit such lease incentives to the 
consolidated income statement over the 
period to the first review date on which 
the rent is adjusted to market rates.

Income and Cost Recognition

Interest Income and Expense 
Interest receivable and payable for all 
interest bearing financial instruments 
is recognised in the Income and 
Expenditure Account within ‘Interest 
receivable and similar income’ and 
‘Interest payable and similar charges’ 
using the effective interest rates of the 
financial assets or financial liabilities 
to which they relate. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that discounts 
the expected future cash flows, over the 
expected life of the financial instrument, 
to the net carrying amount of the financial 
asset or liability.

a. Properties in Possession  
Interest charged to mortgage 
accounts relating to properties 
in possession continues to be 
recognised at the original effective 
interest and, as it is considered 
doubtful the balance will be 
recovered, is provided against.

b. Incentives to Borrowers  Interest 
discounts reduce the effective 
interest rate at which interest 
receivable is recognised over the 
relevant discount period.

Fees and Commissions  
Fees and commissions both receivable 
and payable are recognised as an 
adjustment to the effective interest rate 
and recorded in interest income/(payable) 
where the fees are an integral part of 

the effective interest rate of a financial 
instrument. Fees and commissions 
receivable include mortgage reservation 
fees and valuation fees. Fees and 
commissions payable include mortgage 
introducer’s fees, valuation fees payable 
and mortgage product incentives. Other 
fees are recognised on an accruals basis.

Higher Lending Charges  
It is the Group’s policy to require 
additional security where an advance 
results in a loan to value ratio in excess 
of a certain level. This security may 
be in the form of Mortgage Indemnity 
Guarantee.

Where the Group provides this cover free 
as an incentive to new borrowers the 
premium payable to the cover provider 
is included within fees and commissions 
payable in the year in which they are 
incurred. Where the premium is charged 
to the borrower, and under the terms of 
its insurance contract the Group retains 
some of the risk of loss, an additional 
premium for that risk is charged by the 
Group. The amount of that charge is 
included within fees and commissions 
receivable in the year in which they are 
received.

Other operating income/(charges) 
Other operating income/(charges) are 
recognised in the year in which they are 
incurred on an accrual basis.

Taxation  
Corporation tax is charged on profits as 
adjusted for taxation purposes.

Deferred tax arises from timing 
differences that are differences between 
taxable profits and total comprehensive 
income as stated in the financial 
statements. These timing differences 
arise from the inclusion of income and 
expenses in tax assessments in periods 
different from those in which they are 
recognised in financial statements.

Deferred tax is recognised on all timing 
differences at the reporting date. 
Unrelieved tax losses and other deferred 
tax assets are only recognised when it 
is probable that they will be recovered 
against the reversal of deferred tax 
liabilities or other future taxable profits.

Deferred tax is measured using tax rates 
and laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the period end 
and that are expected to apply to the 
reversal of the timing difference.

Financial Instruments
The Group and Society has chosen 
to adopt the recognition and 
measurement provisions of IAS 39 
- Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement and disclosure 
requirements of sections 11 and 12 
of FRS 102 in respect of financial 
instruments.

a) Financial assets

Financial assets or financial liabilities 
are initially recognised at fair value 
plus, in the case of a financial asset or 
financial liability not at fair value through 
the Income and Expenditure Account, 
transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of 
the financial asset or financial liability. 

After initial recognition, the Group 
measures financial assets, including 
derivatives that are assets, at their 
fair values, without any deduction for 
transaction costs it may incur on sale 
or other disposal, except for the loans 
and receivables, which are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.

Debt instruments are subsequently 
carried at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest rate method.

Derivatives, including interest rate swaps 
are not basic financial instruments. 
All interest rate related contracts are 
classified at the balance sheet date as 
hedging contracts.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair 
value on the date a derivative contract 
is entered into and are subsequently re-
measured at their fair value. 

Changes in the fair value of Derivatives 
that are designated and qualify as fair 
value hedges are recorded in the Income 
and Expenditure Acount together with any 
changes in the fair value of the hedged 
asset or liability that are attributable to 
the hedged risk.

If a hedge is terminated early, the 
realised gain or loss is amortised over 
the residual life of the underlying asset 
or liability. If the underlying asset or 
liability is then redeemed, the remaining 
unamortised amount is recognised in 
the income and expenditure account 
immediately.

The Group and Society enters into credit 
support agreements, which protect 
against counterparty default in respect 

to hedging instruments by means 
of collateral transactions. Collateral 
balances are included within ‘liquid 
assets’ or ‘amounts owed to credit 
institutions’ as appropriate and interest 
receivable or payable reflected on the 
income and expenditure Account within 
‘net interest receivable’.

Liquid Assets

All debt securities are intended for use 
on a continuing basis in the Group’s 
activities and are classified as financial 
fixed assets. All liquid assets are stated 
at cost, adjusted, where applicable, for 
any premium or discount on purchase 
which is amortised over the period to 
maturity.

At the end of each reporting period 
financial assets measured at amortised 
cost are assessed for objective evidence 
of impairment. If an asset is impaired 
the impairment loss is the difference 
between the carrying amount and the 
present value of the estimated cash flows 
discounted at the asset’s original effective 
interest rate. The impairment loss is 
recognised in income and expenditure 
account.

If there is decrease in the impairment 
loss arising from an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognised, 
the impairment is reversed. The 
reversal is such that the current carrying 
amount does not exceed what the 
carrying amount would have been had 
the impairment not previously been 
recognised. The impairment reversal is 
recognised in income and expenditure 
account.

Financial assets are derecognised when 
(a) the contractual rights to the cash 
flows from the asset expire or are settled, 
or (b) substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the ownership of the asset are 
transferred to another party or (c) despite 
having retained some significant risks 
and rewards of ownership, control of the 
asset has been transferred to another 
party who has the practical ability to 
unilaterally sell the asset to an unrelated 
third party without imposing additional 
restrictions.

b) Financial liabilities
Basic financial liabilities, including 
bank loans, loans from fellow Group 
companies that are classified as debt, 
are initially recognised at transaction 
price, unless the arrangement constitutes 

1. Statement of Accounting Policies (continued)
a financing transaction, where the debt 
instrument is measured at the present 
value of the future receipts discounted at 
a market rate of interest.

Financial liabilities are recognised on the 
balance sheet when, and only when, the 
entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

Accounts payable are classified as 
current liabilities if payment is due 
within one year or less. If not, they are 
presented as non-current liabilities.

Financial liabilities are derecognised 
when the liability is extinguished, that 
is when the contractual obligation is 
discharged, cancelled or expires.

c) Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset 
and the net amounts presented in the 
financial statements when there is a 
legally enforceable right to set off the 
recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis or to 
realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

Hedging arrangements 

The Group and Society applies hedge 
accounting for transactions entered 
into to hedge the risk of interest rate 
fluctuations. Interest rate swaps are 
classified at the balance sheet date as 
hedging contracts and are designated as 
fair value hedges of fixed rate mortgage 
lending products.

The Group and Society documents 
at the inception of the transaction 
the relationship between hedging 
instruments and hedged items, as well 
as its risk management objectives and 
strategy for undertaking various hedging 
transactions. The Group and Society also 
documents its assessment, both at hedge 
inception and on an ongoing basis, of 
whether the derivatives that are used in 
hedging transactions are highly effective 
in offsetting changes in fair values of 
hedged items.

The fair values of various derivative 
instruments used for hedging purposes 
are disclosed in Note 26.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives 
that are designated and qualify as fair 
value hedges are recorded in the income 
and expenditure account, together 
with any changes in the fair value of 
the hedged asset or liability that are 
attributable to the hedged risk. The 

Notes to the Accounts Notes to the Accounts
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Group only applies fair value hedge 
accounting for hedging fixed interest 
risk on mortgage lending. The gain or 
loss relating to the effective portion of 
interest rate swaps hedging fixed rate 
mortgage lending products is recognised 
in the income and expenditure account 
within ‘Interest receivable and similar 
income’ (i.e. the income on the effective 
swap). The gain or loss relating to the 
ineffective portion is recognised in 
Income and Expenditure Account within 
‘Net gains from derivative financial 
instruments’. Changes in the fair value 
of the hedge fixed rate mortgage lending 
products attributable to interest rate 
risk are recognised in the Income and 
Expenditure Account within ‘Interest 
receivable and similar income’.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria 
for hedge accounting, the adjustment to 
the carrying amount of a hedged item 
for which the effective interest method 
is used is amortised to the Income and 
Expenditure Account over the period to 
maturity.

Cash and cash equivalents  
Cash and cash equivalents includes 
Cash in hand and balances with the Bank 
of England and  Loans and advances to 
credit institutions repayable within three 
months or less.

Provisions for Bad and Doubtful Debts  
Provisions are made to reduce the value 
of ‘loans and advances to customers’ to 
the amount which the directors consider 
to be recoverable.

Specific Provision  
Throughout the year and at the year 
end, individual assessments are made of 
loans and advances that fall into one of 
the following categories:

• they are in possession,
• they are in arrears by three months or 

more,
• or other qualitative factors for 

commercial loans.
Within each category above, specific 
provisions are made against those loans 
and advances which, in the opinion of the 
directors, are impaired.

The market value at the balance sheet 
date is estimated by indexation of the 
latest known property valuation. In 
considering the property’s valuation and 
any required specific provision, account 
is taken of any legal, estate agent and 

other disposal costs that would be 
required to achieve a sale. The directors 
recognise that not all loans and advances 
in arrears will result in possession and 
apply a factor to reflect this probability 
when calculating the specific provision 
for accounts which they believe are 
impaired.

Collective Provision  
A further, collective provision is made 
against those loans and advances which 
have not been specifically identified 
under one of the criteria above as being 
impaired but demonstrate objective 
evidence to suggest a financial asset 
or group of financial assets has an 
increased likelihood of becoming 
separately impaired. The Group 
measures the amount of impairment loss 
by applying expected loss factors based 
on the Group’s experience of default, 
loss emergence periods, the effect of 
movements in house prices and any 
adjustment for the expected forced sales 
value.

When a borrower tells us that they are 
having financial problems the Society 
works with them using a variety of 
forbearance measures as described 
in Note 26. Forbearance is included in 
the loan loss provision similar to other 
debt, whereby debt which is more than 
three months in arrears is treated as 
individually impaired. Debt which is less 
than three months is included in the 
calculation of the collective impairment 
provision.

Loans and advances to customers 
in the Balance Sheet are shown net 
of provisions. The charge or credit in 
the Income and Expenditure Account 
represents losses written off during the 
year (net of recoveries), together with the 
movement in provisions.

Tangible Fixed Assets  
and Depreciation  
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. Cost 
includes the original purchase price of 
the asset and the costs attributable to 
bringing the asset to working condition for 
intended use.

The costs of additions and major 
alterations to office premises and 
equipment are capitalised. The costs of 
fixed assets are written off on a straight 
line basis over their estimated useful lives 
as follows:

• Freehold buildings over their 
remaining economic life not exceeding 
fifty years

• Short leasehold premises over the 
remainder of the lease up to fifty years

• Plant and machinery over ten years
• Equipment, fixtures, fittings and 

vehicles over two to ten years. 
No depreciation is provided on freehold 
land.

The assets’ residual values and useful 
lives are reviewed, and adjusted, if 
appropriate, at the end of each reporting 
period. The effect of any change is 
accounted for prospectively.

Tangible assets are derecognised on 
disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected. On disposal, the 
difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount 
is recognised in the Income and 
Expenditure Account and included in 
‘Administrative Expenses’.

Investment Properties  
Investment properties are properties held 
for long-term rental yields and capital 
appreciation. Investment properties 
are measured initially at cost including 
related transaction costs and any directly 
attributable expenditure that meet the 
criteria for capitalisation. After initial 
recognition, investment properties are 
carried in the Balance Sheet at fair 
value with movements recorded in the 
Income and Expenditure Account. Fair 
values of investment properties will be 
determined at least once every three 
years by an independent and external, 
RICS (Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors) qualified valuer. Depreciation 
is not charged on investment properties. 
When not valued externally, Investment 
properties fair values are based upon 
Management Valuations. Fair value is 
based on active market data and prices 
with adjustments for differences in the 
nature, location or condition of properties 
made where appropriate.

Impairment of non-financial assets  
At each balance sheet date non-financial 
assets not carried at fair value are 
assessed to determine whether there 
is an indication that the asset may be 
impaired. If there is such an indication 
the recoverable amount of the asset is 
compared to the carrying amount of the 
asset.

The recoverable amount of the asset 
is the higher of the fair value less costs 
to sell and value in use. Value in use 
is defined as the present value of the 
future cash flows before interest and 
tax obtainable as a result of the asset’s 
continued use. These cash flows are 
discounted using a pre-tax discount 
rate that represents the current market 
risk-free rate and the risks inherent in the 
asset.

If the recoverable amount of the asset is 
estimated to be lower than the carrying 
amount, the carrying amount is reduced 
to its recoverable amount. An impairment 
loss is recognised in the Income and 
Expenditure Account, unless the asset 
has been revalued when the amount 
is recognised in other comprehensive 
income to the extent of any previously 
recognised revaluation. Thereafter any 
excess is recognised in income and 
expenditure account.

If an impairment loss is subsequently 
reversed, the carrying amount of the 
asset is increased to the revised estimate 
of its recoverable amount, but only to the 
extent that the revised carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined (net 
of depreciation or amortisation) had no 
impairment loss been recognised in prior 
periods. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised in the income and 
expenditure account.

Operating Leases  
Leases that do not transfer all the 
risks and rewards of ownership are 
classified as operating leases. The cost 
of operating leases, are charged to the 
income and expenditure Account on a 
straight line basis over the duration of the 
lease. Lease incentives received to enter 
into an operating lease are credited to 
the income and expenditure account, to 
reduce the lease expense, on a straight-
line basis over the period of the lease.

Provision for Liabilities  
Provisions are made and recognised 
when the Group has a present obligation 
as a result of a past event, it is probable 
that a transfer of economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation, and 
a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.

Further details on individual provisions 
are included within Note 23 ‘Provisions 
for liabilities’ to the accounts. 

Employee benefits  
The Group provides a range of benefits 
to employees, including defined benefit 
and defined contribution pension plans.

a. Short term benefits Short term 
benefits are recognised as an 
expense in the period in which the 
service is received.

b. Defined Benefit Plan This scheme 
was closed to future accrual for all 
Members from 31 March 2010. At 
each balance sheet date the defined 
benefit pension plan assets are 
measured at market value and the 
liabilities are measured using the 
projected unit valuation method. 

The resulting pension plan surplus 
or deficit is recognised immediately 
on the balance sheet to the extent 
that it is recoverable by the Group 
being the present value of available 
refunds and reductions in future 
contributions to the scheme.  

Any resulting actuarial gains and 
losses are recognised immediately in 
other comprehensive income.  

The increase in the present value of 
the liabilities of the Group’s defined 
benefit pension plan expected to 
arise from employee service in the 
period is charged to operating profit. 

The cost of the defined benefit 
pension plan, recognised in the 
Income and Expenditure Account 
as employee costs, except where 
included in the cost of an asset, 
comprises:

i. the increase in pension benefit 
liability arising from employee 
service during the period; and

ii. the cost of plan introductions, 
benefit changes, curtailments 
and settlements.

The net interest cost is calculated 
by applying the discount rate to the 
net balance of the defined benefit 
obligation and the fair value of plan 
assets. This cost is recognised in the 
Income and Expenditure Account as 
‘Pension finance expense’.

c. Defined Contribution   
Pension Scheme This scheme was 
introduced from 1 April 2010 for all 
employees. This is a scheme into 
which the Society and the employee 
pay contributions. The employer 
contribution represents a fixed 

percentage of the employee gross 
salary. Contributions to the scheme 
made by the Society are charged to 
the Income and Expenditure Account 
as they fall due and are included 
within ‘Administrative Expenses’.

Critical judgements and 
estimates in applying the 
accounting policy 
The preparation of the financial 
statements requires management 
to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of 
the accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities, income 
and expenses. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions 
are continually evaluated and are based 
on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future 
events that are reasonable under the 
circumstances. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimates are revised and in 
any future periods affected.

The Group has not applied any critical 
judgements in the preparation of these 
financial statements.  The following are 
the areas of key accounting estimates:

a. Impairment losses on loans and 
advances to customers (Note 12).  
The Group reviews its mortgage 
advances portfolio at least on a 
monthly basis to assess impairment. 
In determining whether an 
impairment loss should be recorded, 
the Group is required to exercise a 
degree of judgement. Impairment 
provisions are calculated using 
historical arrears experience, 
modelled credit risk characteristics 
and expected cashflows. Estimates 
are applied to determine prevailing 
market conditions (e.g. interest 
rates and house prices), customer 
behaviour (e.g. default rates) and the 
length of time expected to complete 
the sale of properties in possession. 
The accuracy of the provision would 
therefore be affected by unexpected 
changes to these assumptions.

b. Expected mortgage life (Note 11) 
In determining the expected life of 
mortgage assets, the Group uses 
historical and forecast redemption 
data as well as management 
judgement. At least annually, the 
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expected life of mortgage assets 
is reassessed for reasonableness. 
Any variation in the expected life 
of mortgage assets will change the 
carrying value in the balance sheet 
and the timing of the recognition of 
interest income.

c. Employee benefits (Note 27) The 
Group operates a defined benefit 
pension plan. Significant judgements 
(on such areas as future interest and 
inflation rates and mortality rates) 
have to be exercised in estimating 
the value of the assets and liabilities 
of the plan, and hence of its net 
deficit. The assumptions are outlined 
in Note 27 to the accounts. Of these 
assumptions, the main determinant 
of the liability is the discount rate.

d. Fair value of derivatives and 
financial assets (Note 26)  
The Group calculates the fair value 
of its derivatives and financial assets 
using discounted cash flow models, 
using yield curves that are based on 
observable market data.

e. Fair value of investment 
properties (Note 15)  
Investment properties are carried 
in the Balance Sheet at fair value 
with movements recorded in the 
Income and Expenditure Account. 
Fair value is based on active market 
data and prices with adjustments for 
differences in the nature, location 
or condition of properties made 
where appropriate. Fair values 
of investment properties will be 
determined at least once every 
three years by an independent and 
external, RICS (Royal Institution 
of Chartered Surveyors) qualified 
valuer. The Group review investment 
properties for impairment on a 
property-by-property basis whenever 
events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value of 
investment properties may not be 
recoverable. These circumstances 
include, but are not limited to, 
significant declines in cash flows 
and occupancy at the property. We 
may decide to sell properties that are 
held for use and the sale prices of 
these properties may differ from their 
carrying values.

Future amendments to FRS 102 

The FRC has published incremental 
improvements and clarifications to FRS 
102 in December 2017. The amendments 
are mandatory for periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2019, with early adoption 
permitted provided all amendments 
are complied with. The majority of the 
amendments are editorial in nature. The 
amendments are not expected to have a 
significant impact to the Group.

Country-by-Country Reporting 
The Capital Requirements (Country-by-
Country Reporting) Regulations 2013 
introduce reporting obligations for institutions 
within the scope of the European Union’s 
Capital Requirements Directive (CRD IV). 
The requirements aim to give increased 
transparency regarding the activities of 
institutions.
Darlington Building Society (the Society) 
is the 21st largest building society in the 
UK. As a mutual organisation, the Society 
is owned and run for the benefit of its 
Members with the safety of Members’ 
funds being paramount. In providing a safe 
haven for Members’ funds, the Society 
can fulfill its primary purpose of enabling 
home ownership through the provision of 
mortgages.  
The consolidated financial statements 
of the Darlington Building Society Group 
(the Group) include the audited results 
of the Society and its subsidiaries. The 
consolidated entities, their principal activities 
and countries of incorporation are detailed 
in Note 13 to the Annual Report and 
Accounts for the years ended 31 December 
2017. All of the consolidated entities were 
incorporated in the United Kingdom (UK).

For the year ended 31 December 2017:

• Group total income was £9,670k (2016: 
£9,077k) and Group profit before tax 
was £1,869k (2016: £1,777k) all of 
which arose in the UK.

• The Group’s capital and retained 
earnings was £42,769k  
(2016: £39,977k).

• The average number of Group full time 
equivalent employees, all of which were 
employed in the UK, was 106  
(2016: 102).

• The Group paid corporation tax of 
£188k during the year (2016: £436k).

• The Group received no public subsidies 
during the year. 

2. Interest Receivable and Similar Income

3. Interest Payable and Similar Charges

4. Other Operating Income

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

On loans fully secured on residential property 12,965 12,692 
On other loans 1,159 1,312 
On debt securities  299  557 
On other liquid assets 109 150 
Net charge on derivatives (691) (561)

13,841 14,150 

Income from fixed income securities is represented by amounts shown above under the heading ‘on debt securities’. 

Group and Society 

Group and Society 

SocietyGroup

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

On shares held by individuals 4,043 4,809 
On deposits and other borrowings 128 264 

4,171 5,073 

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Other operating income 466 316  61 56

Group other operating income largely relates to rents received.
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5. Administrative Expenses

6. Employees

Group and Society
Full time

The average number of staff employed during the year, including Executive Directors was:

Part time

Group

Group

Society

Society

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Staff costs
   Wages and salaries 3,520 3,187 3,520 3,187 
   Social security costs 333 298 333 298 
   Other pension costs to a defined contribution scheme (Note 27) 253 256 253 256 

4,106 3,741 4,106 3,741 

Other administrative expenses 3,393 3,450 3,379 3,416 

7,499 7,191 7,485 7,157 

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Other administrative expenses include:
Remuneration of auditors (exclusive of value added tax)

  For audit work in respect of the audit of the Society and the consolidation 54 47 54 47 
  For audit work in respect of the audit of the subsidiaries 6 6  -    -   
  For other assurance and services 4 1 4 1 

Operating lease charges on property 320 321 320 321 

2017 2016 2017 2016

Head office 61 55 12 8 
Branch offices 31 33 24 20 

92 88 36 28 

7. Remuneration of and Transactions with Directors

a) Remuneration of Directors

Directors’ Pensions

Emoluments of the Society’s Directors total £717,059 (2016: £643,888) and are detailed below:

The Executive Directors are all eligible for the medium term bonus scheme. Any sums released to Directors through this 
scheme have been included within the remuneration outlined above. The balances accrued to the medium term bonus scheme 
for each Executive Director in the current year and the total balance held is outlined in Section c) of this Note.

The Society’s Remuneration Committee awarded and paid C D Fyfe an additional performance bonus of £15,000 in 2017 in 
recognition of his contribution to the Society’s performance.

P Richardson retired from the Society on 31 August 2017 and received an additional payment of £5,000 as an ex gratia 
payment in recognition of his contribution to the Society as well as a prorated element of the performance bonus for his services 
as an Executive Director during 2017.       

The emoluments disclosed for J Cullen do not include his fees for January 2017 which were donated to the Society’s charitable partners.          

The total pension contribution and benefits paid to Directors during the year were £23,058 (2016: £20,474) and £1,051 (2016: 
£923) respectively. There was no accrued pension to be paid to Directors at either the start or end of the financial period.  
       
The defined benefit scheme operated by the Society was closed on 31 March 2010 therefore there is no increase in accrued 
pension for the period. None of the Directors at year end are Members of this defined benefit scheme (2016: no Directors).   
       
There is an obligation to previous Directors to receive pension benefits which were unfunded, the provision for which is included 
within the pension obligations in Section 28 of FRS 102 (Note 27). Pension payments to past Directors in respect of services as 
Directors total £29,220 (2016: £28,369).       

2017 
Fees

£

2016 
Fees

£
Non-Executive Directors
R Cuffe  23,743  23,266 
J Cullen  24,280  28,171 
K A Davies (retired 30 November 2017)  21,755  25,516 
A T Gosling  26,981  26,439 
J D A Ramsbotham (retired 31 December 2017)  44,439  43,547 
A C Thain  31,742  31,105 
R Turnbull (retired 31 August 2017)  15,790  23,266 
I Wilson (appointed 1 October 2017)  6,646  -   

 195,376 201,310

Executive Directors

Salaries and 
other short 

term benefits
£

Performance
Bonus

£

Medium 
Term bonus 

release
£

Pension
Contribution

£

Other
Benefits

£
Total

£

2017
C D Fyfe  186,962  22,357  -    -    -    209,319 
P Richardson (retired 31 August 2017)  107,924  4,898  5,500  10,792  780  129,894 
C B White  111,160  7,357  5,500  11,116  271  135,404 
C Hunter (appointed 4 September 2017)  42,500  2,399  -    2,167  -    47,066 

 448,546  37,011  11,000  24,075  1,051  521,683 
2016
C D Fyfe  183,208  7,077  -    -    -    190,285 
P Richardson  105,757  7,077  6,000  10,576  735  130,145 
C B White  98,985  7,077  6,000  9,898  188  122,148 

 387,950  21,231  12,000  20,474  923  442,578 



5958

Notes to the AccountsNotes to the Accounts

Directors’ Loans and Transactions

b) Key Management Compensation

c) Medium Term Bonus

At 31 December 2017, there was one mortgage in relation to a house purchase on behalf of a Director or connected person with 
a balance of £128,617 outstanding at this date (2016: One connected person with an outstanding balance of £140,227).                

There were no significant contracts between the Society and any Director of the Society during the year.         

A register is maintained at the Head Office of the Society, under Section 68 of the Building Societies Act 1986, which shows 
details of all loans, transactions and arrangements with Directors and their connected persons.  A statement of the appropriate 
details contained in the register, for the financial year ended 31 December 2017, will be available for inspection at the Head 
Office for a period of 15 days up to and including the Annual General Meeting.                

The compensation paid or payable to key management for employee services is shown below. Key management includes the 
directors and Members of senior management staff (defined by the Society as the Executive Committee).

The details of the medium Term bonus are disclosed on page 36 of the annual accounts. The balances paid to Executive 
Directors in the current year from the Medium Term Bonus are included in remuneration of Executive Directors detailed in part 
a) of this note and the amounts paid to Other Executive Members is included in part b) of this note.
 
The balance accrued in the current year as well as the total accrued balance for Executive Directors and other Members of the 
Executive are disclosed below:       

The Group released previously accrued balances of £26,125 to former Executive Directors and Other Executive Members 
during 2017 as part of the Medium Term Bonus scheme. An accrual of £24,018 remains at 31 December 2017 for these former 
Executive Directors and Other Executive Members.       

at 31 December 2017 
Number

2016 
Number

Executive Directors 3 3
Other Executive Members 5 4

2017 
Accrual

£

Cumulative
Accrual

£
N Barker  4,435  4,435 
C Darnbrook  5,886  15,574 
D Ditchburn  7,357  19,467 
C Fyfe   7,357  19,467 
P Gillson  7,357  13,274 
S Horley  5,543  5,543 
C Hunter  2,399  2,399 
C White  7,357  19,467 

Executive Members

Salaries and 
other short 

term benefits
£

Performance
Bonus

£

Medium 
Term bonus 

release
£

Pension
Contribution

£

Other
Benefits

£
Total

£
2017  249,314  30,579  5,500  23,063  305  308,761 
2016  162,457  18,655  6,000  15,173  -    202,285 

7. Remuneration of and Transactions with Directors (continued) 8. Tax on Profit on Ordinary Activities
a) Tax expense included in income and expenditure

b) Tax income included in other comprehensive income/(expense)

c) Reconciliation of tax charge

Group

Group

Group

Society

Society

Society

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Current Tax:
UK corporation tax on profits for the year 179 242 169  217 
Adjustment in respect of previous years 10 (22) 10 (22)
Total current tax 189 220 179 195 

Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of timing differences 202 148 202 148 
Adjustment in respect of previous years (8) 19 (8) 19 
Effect of changes in tax rates (24) (21) (24) (21)
Total deferred tax 170 146 170 146 

Tax on profit on ordinary activities 359 366 349 341 

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of timing differences 262 (441) 262 (441)
Impact of change in tax rate -  - -  - 

Total tax income included in other comprehensive income/(expense) 262 (441) 262 (441)

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 1,869 1,777 1,818 1,651 

Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the 
UK of 19.25% (2016: 20%) 360 355 350 330 

Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 22 35 22 35 
Income not taxable for tax purposes (1) - (1) -
Effects of other tax rates/credits (24) (21) (24) (21)
Adjustment to tax charge in respect of previous years 2 (3) 2 (3)
Total tax  359  366  349  341 

The tax assessed for the year differs to the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19.25% (2016: 20%). The differences 
are explained below:
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9. Loans and Advances to Credit Institutions

10. Debt Securities

Group

Group and Society

Society

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Accrued interest 29 59 29 59 
Repayable on demand 10,420 13,204 10,253 13,067 
Other loans and advances by residual maturity repayable:

  In not more than three months 4,000 2,000 4,000 2,000 
  In more than three months but less than one year 2,000 8,000 2,000 8,000 
  In more than one year. 335 1,845 335 1,845 

16,784 25,108 16,617 24,971 

The amount outstanding over one year relates to collateral held with credit institutions in relation to credit support agreements in 
respect of hedging instruments.

The fair value of debt securities for which an active market exists is disclosed in note 26.

The Directors consider that the primary purpose of holding securities is prudential. The securities are held as liquid assets with 
the intention of use on a continuing basis in the Group’s activities and are classified accordingly as financial fixed assets.

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Issued by public bodies 3,517 4,633
Issued by other borrowers 15,927 25,215

19,444 29,848
Debt securities have remaining maturities as follows:

Accrued interest 194 356
In not more than one year 14,806 28,488
In more than one year but not more than five years 4,444 1,004

19,444 29,848

8. Tax on Profit on Ordinary Activities (continued)

d) Factors that may affect the future tax charge
Finance Acts in 2015 and 2016 provided for a reduction in the main rate of corporation tax from 20% to 19% with effect from 
1 April 2017 and by a further 2% to 17% from 1 April 2020. Accordingly, both of these rate reductions have been reflected in 
the financial statements. The Society’s profits for this accounting period are taxed at an effective rate of 19.25%. Opening and 
closing deferred tax assets and liabilities have both been recognised at 17%, as this is the rate substantively enacted at both 
balance sheet dates.

The movements in deferred taxation are disclosed in Note 21(b).

Group and Society

Movements during the year of debt securities held as financial fixed assets are analysed as follows:

Included in debt securities is an amount of £249,049 (2016: £206,331) representing the unamortised discount.

Amortised cost and net book value (excluding accrued interest)

£,000

At 1 January 29,492 
Additions 25,953 
(Disposals/maturities) (36,195)
At 31 December 19,250 

11. Loans and Advances to Customers
Group and Society

Group and Society

Maturity analysis
The remaining maturity of loans and advances to customers from the date of the balance sheet is as follows:

Further analysis of the loan book above can be found on pages 76 to 80.  

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Loans fully secured on residential property 464,013 412,838 
Other loans

   Loans fully secured on land 17,895 21,422 
481,908 434,260 

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Loans and advances repayable on demand 5,525 5,218 
Other loans and advances by residual maturity repayable:
In not more than three months 7,156 5,344 
In more than three months but not more than one year 17,610 18,824 
In more than one year but not more than five years 95,546 91,068 
In more than five years 358,270 315,884 

484,107 436,338 
Less
Provisions for bad and doubtful debts (Note 12) (2,199) (2,078)

481,908 434,260 

10. Debt Securities (continued)

Notes to the AccountsNotes to the Accounts
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Loans fully 
secured on 
residential 

property
£,000

Loans fully 
secured  
on land

£,000
Total
£,000

At 1 January 2017 Collective 202 20 222 
Specific 179 1,677 1,856 

381 1,697 2,078 

Amounts written off during the year Collective  -    -    -   
Specific  -   (63) (63)

 -   (63) (63)

Income and Expenditure Account

Charge for the year Collective (5)  35 30 
Specific (55)  209  154 

(60)  244  184 

Adjustments to specific provisions for bad and doubtful debts 
resulting from recoveries during year (5)  -   (5)

Net charge to Income and Expenditure Account (65)  244  179 

At 31 December 2017 Collective 197 55 252 
Specific 124 1,823 1,947 

321  1,878 2,199 

12. Provisions for bad and doubtful debts

Group and Society

Provision against loans and advances to customers has been made as follows:

13. Investments in subsidiaries
The Society has the following subsidiaries, all of which are wholly owned and operate in the United Kingdom and are registered 
in England and Wales. All companies are limited by shares and have a 31 December year end.

The loan outstanding to Darlington Homes Limited is for an undetermined period subject to not less than 365 days notice and 
any future requirements of the Society as to repayment of principal. The Society reserves the right to convert the loan in whole 
or part into shares at its absolute discretion. The loan is unsecured and does not accrue interest.

Society only Investments in
Subsidiaries

Shares
£,000

Cost and net book value
At 1 January and 31 December 2017 2,595 

Loans

Cost
At 1 January and 31 December 2017 8,784 

Impairment
At 1 January and 31 December 2017 (3,195)

Net book value
  At 1 January 2017 5,589 

At 31 December 2017 5,589 

Net book amount 31 December 2017 8,184 
Net book amount 31 December 2016 8,184 

Class of Shares Held Interest of Society Principal Activity
Darlington Homes  Limited Ordinary 100% Property development and sales
Darlington Direct Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
Darlington Estate Agents Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
Darlington Investment Planning Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
Darlington Mortgage Services Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
DBS Services (No 3) Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
Sentinel Homes Limited                             Ordinary and Preference 100% Dormant
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14. Tangible Fixed Assets

15. Investment Properties

Group and Society Land and Buildings

Plant and 
Machinery

£,000

Equipment, 
Fixtures, 

Fittings and 
Vehicles

£,000
Total

£,000
Freehold 

£,000

Short 
Leasehold 

£,000

Cost
  At 1 January 2017 853 1,117 255 1,531 3,756 
  Additions  -   23  -   1,032 1,055 
  Disposals  -   (205) (82) (268) (555)
  At 31 December 2017 853 935 173 2,295 4,256 

Accumulated depreciation
  At 1 January 2017 248 644 168 1,152 2,212 
  Charged in year 31 90 24 249 394 
  Disposals  -   (205) (75) (268) (548)
  At 31 December 2017 279 529 117 1,133 2,058 

Net book value
  At 31 December 2017 574 406 56 1,162 2,198 

  At 31 December 2016 605 473 87 379 1,544 

Group and Society
2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Net book value of land and buildings occupied by the Group/Society for its own activities was:

At 31 December 876 953

Group Society
2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

At 1 January 6,035 6,449 255 569 
  Additions  - (275)  - (275)
  Changes to fair value (381) (139) (41) (39)

At 31 December 5,654 6,035 214 255 

16. Other Assets

17. Prepayments and accrued income
Group

Group

Society

Society

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Prepayments and accrued income  467 336  359 336 

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Debtor due within one year  -    25  -    25 
Deferred tax asset (see Note 21(b))  -    431  -    431 

 -    456  -    456 

18. Shares

Shares are repayable from the balance sheet date in the ordinary course of business as follows:

While a number of shares are held in accounts with fixed maturity dates, withdrawals are allowed on demand with loss of interest.

Group and Society

Group and Society

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Held by individuals 505,365 469,198
Other shares 14 14

505,379 469,212

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Accrued interest 1,906 2,130
Repayable on demand 499,682 463,189
In more than three months but not more than one year 3,791  - 
In more than one year but not more than five years -  3,893 

505,379 469,212

19. Amounts owed to Credit Institutions
Amounts owed to other credit institutions are repayable from the balance sheet in the ordinary course of business as follows:

Group and Society
2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Accrued interest 29 9
Repayable on demand 342 488
In not more than three months 5,500  - 
In more than three months but not more than one year 6,500 2,500

12,371 2,997
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20. Amounts owed to Other Customers
Amounts owed to other customers are repayable from the balance sheet in the ordinary course of business as follows:

Group Society
2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Accrued interest 36 135 36 135
Repayable on demand 15,085 20,433 15,085 20,433
In not more than three months:

  Due to subsidiaries  -    -   2,600 2,600
  Other customers 4,100 6,275 4,100 6,275

In more than three months but not more than one year 3,000 2,700 3,000 2,700
22,221 29,543 24,821 32,143

21. Other Liabilities

22. Accruals and Deferred Income

a) Other liabilities falling due within one year comprise:
Group

Group

Society

Society

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Corporation tax  78 77  68 51
Deferred tax liability  1 -  1 -
Social security and other taxation  98 108  98 108
Other creditors  104 245  104 99

 281 430  271 258

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Amounts due within one year 1,400 964  1,387 870

The movement in the deferred taxation asset above is as follows:

The deferred taxation asset within Group and Society is as follows:

There are unprovided deferred tax assets of £210,000 (at 17%) in relation to trading losses held by Darlington Homes Limited, 
which have not been recognised due to uncertainty around their future utilisation.    

Group and Society

Group and Society

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

At 1 January (431) (136)
Amount released during year 432 (295)
At 31 December 1 (431)

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Excess of tax allowances over depreciation (7) (43)
Other timing differences (28) (8)
Deferred tax arising in relation to retirement benefit obligations (note 27) 36 (380)

1 (431)

b) Deferred Tax

23. Provisions for Liabilities

Financial Services Compensation Scheme (FSCS)
In common with all regulated UK deposit takers, the Society pays levies to the Financial Services Compensation Scheme 
(FSCS) to enable the FSCS to meet claims. The FSCS levy consists of two parts - a management expenses levy and a 
compensation levy. The management expenses levy covers the cost of running the scheme and the compensation levy covers 
the amount of compensation the scheme pays for major banking failures, net of any recoveries it makes using the rights that 
have been assigned to it. 
     
The Directors understand that presently the FSCS has met, or will meet, claims by way of loans received from the Bank of 
England. To recover the interest costs the FSCS charge a management expense levy to all UK deposit takers, including the 
Society. Based on notifications the Society has received from the regulator, the Society has recognised a provision in this years 
results to provide the full potential for interest up to and including all amounts due for 2018/2019.      
 
In addition to recovering interest costs the FSCS will also look to recover any capital balances that are not felt to be recoverable. 
The latest notifications from the regulator demonstrate that the likelihood of further capital balances being recovered are low. As 
a consequence the Society has no provision in relation to capital balances.      

Given the significance of the FSCS provision the balance provided in the year has been shown directly on the face of the 
Income and Expenditure Account.       

Customer redress
The Society has, at year end, included provisions for fees due to the Financial Ombudsman Service in relation to investigation 
of Mortgage Payment Protection Insurance (MPPI) claims already lodged with the Ombudsman. The Society has investigated 
all of these claims and does not believe it is liable in any of the cases. As a result the Society does not believe a provision is 
required for settlement or compensation in regards to mis-selling of any of these policies. Furthermore the Society has a strong 
record in relation to the Ombudsman’s findings with 87% (2016: 92%) of referred cases, to date, being found in the Society’s 
favour.

At year end the Society has asked that no cases (2016: one) initially decided in the complaintant’s favour, be referred to an 
Ombudsman for final decision. Included within customer redress balances, both provide and utilised in the year, are costs 
related to interest payments not applied to a number of customer accounts prior to closure.

Medium Term Bonus provision
Details of the Medium term bonus provision are stated on page 36 in the Report of the Directors on Remuneration.   
      
The balances provided in the year, for both the Customer redress and Medium term bonus provisions, are included within 
Administration costs on the face of the Income and Expenditure Accounts.

Group and Society
FSCS Levy 

provision 
£,000

Customer 
redress 

£,000

Medium 
term bonus 

provision 
£,000

Total 
£,000

At 1 January 2017 246 89 123 458 
Amount (released)/provided during year (79) (29) 60 (48)
Amount utilised during year (84) (53) (42) (179)

At 31 December 2017 83 7 141 231 
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24. Guarantees and other Financial Commitments

Group and Society

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Contracted but not provided for  84  90 

a) Capital commitments at 31 December, for which no provision has been made in the accounts were as follows:

b) Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

The Group’s obligations in respect of the Financial Services Compensation Scheme (FSCS) are detailed in Note 23.

Group and Society

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Operating leases which expire
  In less than one year  348  243 
  In more than one year but not more than five years  1,207  775 
  In more than five years  256  404 

1,811 1,422

“The group has taken exemption as provided in section 33.1A of FRS 102 and does not disclose transactions with Members of 
the same group that are wholly owned. The group discloses transactions with related parties which are not wholly owned with 
the same group. However, during the year under consideration, there have been no such related party transactions which needs 
to be disclosed. 
 
See note 7 for disclosure of the directors’ remuneration and key management compensation.”

25. Related party transactions

26. Financial Instruments
A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity in another entity. 
     
The Group is a retailer of financial instruments, mainly in the form of mortgages and savings and uses financial instruments to 
invest liquid assets, raise wholesale funding and to manage the risks arising from its operations. As a result of these activities the 
Group is exposed to a range of risks including liquidity, credit, and market risk. These risks are identified and discussed within the 
Risk Management Report.
     
The Group has a formal structure for managing risk, including established risk limits, reporting lines, mandates and other control 
procedures. This structure is reviewed regularly by the Assets and Liabilities Committee (‘ALCO’), which is charged with the 
responsibility for managing and controlling the balance sheet exposures of the Group. The minutes of the ALCO are presented to 
the Board of Directors. 
    
Instruments used for risk management purposes include derivative financial instruments (‘derivatives’), which are contracts or 
agreements whose value is derived from one or more underlying price, rate or index inherent in the contract or agreement, such as 
interest rates, exchange rates or stock market indices.
     
The objective of the Group in using derivatives is in accordance with the Building Societies Act 1986 and is to limit the extent to 
which the Group will be affected by changes in interest rates or other factors specified in legislation. Derivatives are not used in 
trading activity or for speculative purposes and all derivatives are therefore designated as hedging instruments.

The recognition and measurement of Financial Instruments is set out in the Accounting Policies (note 1). The table below shows 
the assets and liabilities of the Group assigned to the categories by which they are recognised and measured:

The breakdown of the Group’s financial assets and liability, shown above, is materially the same as the breakdown for the 
Society alone as material differences between the Group and Society balance sheets are within non-financial assets and  
non-financial liabilities.      

a) Group Financial Assets and Liabilities by Accounting Recognition and Measurement criteria

Group Financial 
assets 

measured 
at fair value 

through profit 
or loss

Financial 
assets that 

are debt 
instruments 

measured at 
amortised cost

Financial 
liabilities 

carried at 
amortised cost

Loan 
commitments 

measured 
at cost less 
impairment

Financial 
liabilities 

measured 
at fair value 
through the 

profit or loss

Total

At 31 December 2017 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000
Assets
Cash in hand - 58,219 - - - 58,219
Loans and advances to credit institutions - 16,784 - - - 16,784
Debt securities - 19,444 - - - 19,444
Loans and advances to customers 124 - - 481,784 - 481,908
Derivative Financial Instruments 326 - - - - 326
Total financial assets 450 94,447 - 481,784 - 576,681
Non-financial assets 9,091

Total Assets 585,772

Liabilities
Shares - - 505,379 - - 505,379
Amounts owed to credit institutions - - 12,371 - - 12,371
Amounts owed to other customers - - 22,221 - - 22,221
Derivative Financial Instruments - - - - 559 559
Total Financial Liabilities - - 539,971 - 559 540,530
Other Non-financial liabilities 2,473
Reserves 42,769

Total Liabilities 585,772
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Set out below is a comparison of carrying values to fair values of those of the Group’s and Society’s financial assets and 
liabilities as at 31 December which are listed or publicly traded, or for which a liquid and active market exists. Market values 
have been used to determine fair values.      

The nominal value of derivative financial instruments is disclosed on page 72 and the fair value of derivative financial assets and 
financial liabilities is disclosed on page 71.

These tables exclude mortgages, retail savings accounts and other balance sheet items as they are not listed or publicly traded, 
and no liquid or active markets exists.      

Fair Values of Financial Assets 

b) Financial Instruments recognised at Fair Value

Group Financial 
assets 

measured 
at fair value 

through profit 
or loss

Financial 
assets that 

are debt 
instruments 

measured at 
amortised cost

Financial 
liabilities 

carried at 
amortised cost

Loan 
commitments 

measured 
at cost less 
impairment

Financial 
liabilities 

measured 
at fair value 
through the 

profit or loss

Total

At 31 December 2016 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000
Assets
Cash in hand - 49,237 - - - 49,237
Loans and advances to credit institutions - 25,108 - - - 25,108
Debt securities - 29,848 - - - 29,848
Loans and advances to customers 899 - - 433,361 - 434,260
Derivative Financial Instruments 124 - - - - 124
Total financial assets 1,023 104,193 - 433,361 - 538,577
Non-financial assets 8,371

Total Assets 546,948

Liabilities
Shares - - 469,212 - - 469,212
Amounts owed to credit institutions - - 2,997 - - 2,997
Amounts owed to other customers - - 29,543 - - 29,543
Derivative Financial Instruments - - - - 1,131 1,131
Total Financial Liabilities - - 501,752 - 1,131 502,883
Other Non-financial liabilities 4,088
Reserves 39,977

Total Liabilities 546,948

2017 2016
Carrying value 

£,000
Fair value

£,000
Carrying value 

£,000
Fair value

£,000

Debt securities 19,444 19,227 29,848 29,552

26. Financial Instruments (continued)

Interest rate swaps are held on the balance sheet at fair value. Derivatives are measured using prices that are observable 
for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). The valuation of the Groups’ interest rate swaps 
is based on the ‘present value’ method. The expected future cash flows are discounted using prevailing LIBOR yield curves 
obtained from quoted interest rates in similar time bandings (i.e. where the timings of cash flows and maturity match those of the 
instruments).

The measurement of the fair value of Financial Instruments can be categorised into different levels as outlined below:
1. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
2. Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly (i.e. as 

price) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
3. Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

The Interest Rate Swaps held by the Group and related hedged items (loans and advances to customers) attributable to the 
hedged risk are the only financial instruments held by the Group at fair value.  Both are classified as Level 2 as follows:

The Group’s investment assets within the funded defined benefit pension plan (Note 27) have also been fair valued using the 
above hierarchy categories as follows:

Fair Value Methodology

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Financial assets
Derivative financial assets 326 124 
Fair value adjustment for hedged risk 124 899 

Financial liabilities
Derivative financial liabilities (559) (1,131)

Level 1 
£,000

Level 2 
£,000

Total

At 31 December 2017 3,492 24,573 28,065 
At 31 December 2016 3,396 22,821 26,217 

2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

(Losses)/gains on hedging instruments (775) 307 
Gains/(losses) on hedged items attributable to the hedged risk 774 (343)

Net losses from derivative financial instruments (1) (36)

Interest rate swaps
The Group actively monitors interest rate risk and uses both natural hedging and fair value, interest rate swaps to manage 
the interest rate risk created though lending fixed rate mortgage products (financial instruments measured at amortised cost). 
Interest rate swaps are put in place whereby the Society receives interest at LIBOR and pays interest at a fixed rate.

FRS 102 Section 11 paragraph 2 provides an accounting policy choice for the accounting of all of its financial instruments.  The 
Group has elected to apply IAS 39 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement to account for all of its financial 
instruments, and meets the conditions described in IAS 39 to carry out hedge accounting. As such, hedge accounting has 
been adopted. The movements in the fair value of the hedging instrument (the interest rate swap) and the hedged item (the 
underlying mortgages) are shown in the table below:

Movements in Fair Values of Hedged Instruments and Hedged Items:
(i) Amounts recognised in the Income and Expenditure Account
The income, expense and changes in fair values of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss recorded in 
the Income and Expenditure Account is as follows:

(ii) Risk exposure and fair value measurements  
Information about the methods and assumptions used in determining fair value is provided under Fair Value Methodology 
above. For information about the company’s exposure to market risk please refer to section d, page 72. 

c) Classification of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
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26. Financial Instruments (continued)

Notes to the Accounts Notes to the Accounts

The principle market risk that the Group is exposed to is interest rate risk. The Group has got no exposure to foreign currency, 
but the Group has an indirect exposure to the performance of the equities market through the Society’s closed defined benefit 
scheme.

The table below, analyses the interest rate swaps by maturity and shows the nominal principal amount, credit risk weighted 
amount and replacement cost of contracts.  The nominal principal amount indicates the volume of business outstanding at the 
balance sheet date and does not represent amounts at risk.  The replacement cost represents the cost of replacing contracts 
with positive values, calculated at market rates at the balance sheet date this balance therefore reflects the Group’s exposure 
should the counterparties default.  The credit risk weighted amount, which is calculated according to rules specified by the 
Regulator, is based on the replacement cost, but also takes into account measures of the extent of potential future exposure 
and the nature of the counterparty.

Maturity analysis of Interest Rate Swaps:

The Group’s operations expose it to a variety of financial risks that include the effects of market risk (including interest rate risk), 
credit risk and liquidity risk. 

Financial risk management

Group and Society Nominal 
Principal 
Amount 

2017 
£,000

Credit risk 
weighted 

amount 
2017 
£,000

Replacement
Cost

2017
£,000

Nominal 
Principal 
Amount 

2016
£,000

Credit risk 
weighted 

amount 
2016 
£,000

Replacement
Cost

2016
£,000

Under one year 38,250 4 19 13,250  -    -   
Between one and five years 77,750 96 303 83,250 37 119
Over five years  -    -    -   1,000  -    -   
Total 116,000 100 322 97,500 37 119

d) Market Risk

Control of derivatives
Derivatives used by the Group are exclusively interest rate swaps used to hedge Group balance sheet exposures arising from 
fixed rate mortgage lending. The Board of Directors has authorised the use of derivatives in accordance with the Building 
Societies Act 1986.  All limits over the use of derivative products are the responsibility of the ALCO. Derivatives are not used in 
trading activity or for speculative purposes and all derivatives are therefore designated as hedging instruments. The accounting 
policies for hedging contracts are described in Note 1.

The net interest income and market value of the Group’s assets are exposed to movements in interest rates.  This exposure 
is managed on a continuous basis, within limits approved by the Board. After taking into account the swaps entered into by 
the Group, the interest rate risk exposure of the Group, allocating items to time bands by reference to the earlier of the next 
contractual interest repricing date and the maturity date, was as follows:
Interest rate risk analysis:

Group Not more 
than three 

months

More than 
three months 
but not more 

than six 
months

More than six  
months but 

not more than 
one year

More than 
one year but 

not more than 
five years

More than 
five years

Non-interest 
Bearing

Total

At 31 December 2017 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Assets
Liquid assets  79,383  6,735  5,171  2,515  -    643  94,447 
Loans and advances to customers  330,392  7,987  34,325  109,395  598 (789)  481,908 
Derivative assets  -    -    -    -    -    326  326 
Non-financial assets  -    -    -    -    -    8,319  8,319 
Pension asset  -    -    -    -    -    772  772 

Total assets  409,775  14,722  39,496  111,910  598  9,271  585,772 

Liabilities
Shares  396,546  34,258  27,370  47,205  -    -    505,379 
Amounts owed to credit 
institutions  5,864  4,505  2,002  -    -    -    12,371 
Amounts owed to other customers

 19,217  1,001  2,003  -    -    -    22,221 
Derivative liabilities  -    -    -    -    -    559  559 
Other liabilities  -    -    -    -    -    2,473  2,473 
Reserves  -    -    -    -    -    42,769  42,769 

Total liabilities  421,627  39,764  31,375  47,205  -    45,801  585,772 

Off balance sheet items (115,250) 8,750 28,750 77,750  -    -    -   

Interest rate sensitivity Gap  103,398 (33,792) (20,629) (13,045)  598 (36,530)  -   

Cumulative gap  103,398  69,606  48,977  35,932  36,530  -    -   
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Group Not more than 
three months

More than 
three months 
but not more 

than six 
months

More than six 
months but not 
more than one 

year

More than one 
year but not 

more than five 
years

More than five 
years

Non-interest
Bearing

Total

At 31 December 2016 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Assets
Liquid assets 83,025 12,963 7,701  -    -   504 104,193 
Loans and advances to customers 309,039 7,245 19,293 98,365 427 (109) 434,260 
Derivative assets  -    -    -    -    -   124 124 
Non-financial assets  -    -    -    -    -   8,371 8,371 

Total assets 392,064 20,208 26,994 98,365 427 8,890 546,948 

Liabilities
Shares 382,387 39,182 27,765 19,878  -    -   469,212 
Amounts owed to credit 
institutions 495  1,000 1,502  -    -    -   2,997 
Amounts owed to other customers 26,841  -   2,702  -    -    -   29,543 
Derivative liabilities  -    -    -    -    -   1,131 1,131 
Other liabilities  -    -    -    -    -   4,088 4,088 
Reserves  -    -    -    -    -   39,977 39,977 

Total liabilities 409,723 40,182 31,969 19,878  -   45,196 546,948 

Off balance sheet items (97,500) 4,500 8,750 83,250 1,000  -    -   

Interest rate sensitivity Gap 79,841 (24,474) (13,725) (4,763) (573) (36,306)  -   

Cumulative gap 79,841 55,367 41,642 36,879 36,306  -    -   

The ALCO performs sensitivity analysis on a monthly basis to assess the interest rate risk faced by the Group over a 12 month 
period, if no management actions were undertaken. A range of risks measured by ALCO are shown in the table below:

Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis:

A reduction of 0.25% in the discount rate would increase the pension deficit by approximately £1.2m.

Group and Society 12 month 
impact 

£,000

Possible Scenarios
Increase in bank base rate by 0.25% 11 Improvement in profit before tax
Decrease in bank base rate by 0.25% 217 Improvement in profit before tax

Severe but Plausible Scenarios
Increase in bank base rate by 2.0% 924 Improvement in profit before tax
Decrease in bank base rate to Zero 285 Improvement in profit before tax

26. Financial Instruments (continued)

Notes to the Accounts Notes to the Accounts

Credit risk is the risk that the Group experiences financial loss as a result of customers or counterparties not being able to meet 
their contractual obligations as they fall due. The Group monitors its credit risk through operating a credit governance framework 
in which two committees take responsibility for the two main areas of credit risk within the Group. ALCO monitors the credit 
risk within the Group’s liquid assets and derivatives and the Credit Committee monitors credit risk within the Groups loans and 
advances to customers (i.e. its mortgage book). 

These committees both operate under delegated authorities from the Board and have detailed policy and risk appetite 
documents that are reviewed by the Board on an annual basis.

The Society enters into credit support agreements, which protect against counterparty default in respect to hedging instruments 
by means of collateral transactions. Collateral balances are included within ‘liquid assets’ or ‘amounts owed to credit institutions’ 
as appropriate and interest receivable or payable reflected on the Income and Expenditure Account within ‘net interest 
receivable’.

At 31 December 2017 the Group held financial assets of £0.34m (2016: £1.85m) in credit support agreements, included within 
liquid assets: loans and advances to credit institutions in relation to its net derivative liability exposure at the balance sheet 
date.  The carrying amount of all classes of financial instruments represents the maximum exposure to credit risk. None of the 
financial assets are either past due or impaired.

e) Credit Risk

ALCO monitor the exposure of the Group against these limits as well as relevant market and industry information to aid in the 
assessment of changes to the credit quality of counterparties including credit ratings and credit default swap rates.

Liquidity Credit Risk:

i) Liquid Asset and Derivatives

The ALCO is responsible for considering and approving counterparties for both investment and derivative transactions with 
limits applied to individual counterparties, groups and geographical regions to control the risk to which the Group is exposed. 
The Group policies limit investments to central government (including supranational bonds and investments with the Bank of 
England), Banks and Building Societies.

Liquidity by Industry Sector:
Group

Credit risk 2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Liquid Resources
Cash resources  643  504 
Central government (UK Gilts,  Treasury Bills and Supranational Bonds)  61,095  53,366 
Credit institutions  32,709  50,323 

Total liquidity exposures  94,447  104,193 

Fitch IBCA Rating 2017 2016
Less than  
3 months

£,000

3 months  
to 1 year 

£,000

Over  
1 year

£,000

Total

£,000

Less than  
3 months

£,000

3 months  
to 1 year 

£,000

Over  
1 year

£,000

Total

£,000
Cash Resource  643  -    -    643  504  -    -    504 
AAA to AA- (Short term F1+)  67,080  1,002  4,520  72,602  64,093  5,770  1,004  70,867 
A+ to A- (Short term F1 to F2)  5,200  6,884  -    12,084  10,496  9,580  -    20,076 
BBB- to BBB+ (Short term F2)  81  4,016  -    4,097  1,300  5,410  -    6,710 
Unrated  4,017  1,004  -    5,021  2,016  4,020  -    6,036 
Total  77,021  12,906  4,520  94,447  78,409  24,780  1,004  104,193 
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The Group’s Treasury team and ALCO regularly assess the credit risk of the counterparties with which the Group has interest 
rate swaps in place with. The credit rating of these counterparties and the nominal value of swap relationships at each credit 
rating level are shown in the table below:

Derivative Credit Risk:

Group and Society
AA- 
£m

A+ 
£m

Other 
£m

Total 
£m

Nominal Value as at 31 December 2017  17,750  58,000  40,250  116,000 
Nominal Value as at 31 December 2016  25,000  42,000  30,500  97,500 

ii) Loans and Advances to Customers

All mortgage loan applications are assessed with reference to the Society’s credit risk appetite statement and lending policy, 
which includes assessing applications for potential money laundering and fraud risk. When deciding on an overall risk appetite 
that the Society wishes to adopt, both numerical and non-numerical considerations are taken into account, along with data on 
the current UK economic climate, current loan book and  risk appetite for the Society. The Society’s risk appetite statement must 
comply with all the prevailing regulatory policy and framework and is approved annually by the Board.

The Society’s lending book is monitored by the Credit Committee to ensure that it remains in line with the stated risk appetite of 
the Society including adherence to the lending principles, policies and lending limits.  Comprehensive credit risk management 
information is reported to the Credit Committee on a monthly basis.  As the Society holds first charge, the Society’s credit risk at 
the point of any default on payments is limited to the loan balance at that point.

For new customers the first level of the credit control framework is achieved via individual underwriting which assesses the 
affordability of potential customers prior to making loan offers. A second level is the lending policy rules which are applied 
to new applications to ensure that they meet the risk appetite of the Society. All mortgage applications are overseen by the 
Society’s Customer Support Team who ensure that all lending criteria are applied and that all information submitted within the 
application is validated. All further advances to existing customers are also subject to affordability checks, lending policy rules 
and individual underwriting.

It is the Society’s policy to ensure good customer outcomes and lend responsibly by ensuring at the outset that the customer 
can meet mortgage repayments. This is achieved by obtaining specific information from the customer concerning income and 
expenditure but also external credit reference agency data. Part of this assessment includes stress testing the affordability 
throughout the life of the mortgage using a higher rate of interest.

Loans and advances to residential, buy to let and commercial loan customers are shown in the table below:

Group and Society 2017 
£,000

2016 
£,000

Residential Loans  417,145  371,104 
Buy to Let Loans  46,030  40,970 
Commercial Loans  19,522  22,295 

Total  482,697  434,369 

The balance above is before provisions for bad and doubtful debts and excludes accounting adjustments of £1.41m for 
recognition of interest on loans and advances to customers at an effective interest rate and the fair value of the hedged 
mortgage asset (31 December 2016: £1.97m).

26. Financial Instruments (continued)

Notes to the Accounts Notes to the Accounts

Geographical Analysis
The Society operates throughout England and Wales (limited exposure in Scotland) with the mortgage book mainly 
concentrated around the North of England.

Group and Society Residential BTL Commercial Total
At 31 December 2017 £,000 % £,000 % £,000 % £,000 %

Eastern  11,804 2.83%  1,268 2.75%  -   0.00%  13,072 2.71%

East Midlands  14,190 3.40%  1,717 3.73%  -   0.00%  15,907 3.30%

London  16,574 3.97%  7,125 15.48%  -   0.00%  23,699 4.91%

North  186,350 44.68%  8,947 19.43%  12,432 63.69%  207,729 43.04%

North West  24,916 5.97%  1,442 3.13%  346 1.77%  26,704 5.53%

Outer Met (London)  15,105 3.62%  4,538 9.86%  -   0.00%  19,643 4.07%

Outer South East  51,941 12.45%  8,280 17.99%  756 3.87%  60,977 12.63%

Scotland  234 0.06%  -   0.00%  -   0.00%  234 0.05%

South West  28,492 6.83%  4,335 9.42%  -   0.00%  32,827 6.80%

Wales  12,213 2.93%  726 1.58%  -   0.34%  12,939 2.68%

West Midlands  14,022 3.36%  2,843 6.18%  -   0.00%  16,865 3.49%

Yorkshire and Humberside  41,304 9.90%  4,809 10.45%  5,988 30.67%  52,101 10.79%

Total  417,145  46,030  19,522  482,697 

Group and Society Residential BTL Commercial Total
At 31 December 2016 £,000 % £,000 % £,000 % £,000 %

Eastern  9,765 2.63%  1,448 3.53%  -   0.00%  11,213 2.58%

East Midlands  10,390 2.80%  1,305 3.19%  -   0.00%  11,695 2.69%

London  14,103 3.80%  6,379 15.57%  -   0.00%  20,482 4.72%

North  181,133 48.82%  9,151 22.34%  14,244 63.88%  204,528 47.09%

North West  21,721 5.85%  1,297 3.17%  478 2.15%  23,496 5.41%

Outer Met (London)  11,816 3.18%  3,521 8.59%  -   0.00%  15,337 3.53%

Outer South East  39,688 10.70%  6,491 15.84%  817 3.66%  46,996 10.82%

Scotland  226 0.06%  -   0.00%  -   0.00%  226 0.05%

South West  18,850 5.08%  4,058 9.90%  -   0.00%  22,908 5.27%

Wales  8,811 2.37%  717 1.75%  75 0.34%  9,603 2.21%

West Midlands  13,846 3.73%  2,130 5.20%  -   0.00%  15,976 3.68%

Yorkshire and Humberside  40,755 10.98%  4,473 10.92%  6,681 29.97%  51,909 11.95%

Total  371,104  40,970  22,295  434,369 
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Loan to Value Analysis

Group and Society Residential BTL Commercial Total
At 31 December 2017 % % % %

0-30% 17.18% 3.32% 5.37% 15.39%
30%-60% 36.30% 37.28% 43.61% 36.69%
60%-80% 31.62% 55.44% 22.32% 33.51%
80%-90% 11.77% 2.98% 2.66% 10.57%
90%-100% 3.11% 0.00% 1.47% 2.74%
>100% 0.00% 0.98% 24.57% 1.10%

Average loan to value 41.68% 58.52% 50.22% 43.02%

Group and Society Residential BTL Commercial Total
At 31 December 2016 % % % %

0-30% 17.87% 2.81% 4.27% 15.75%
30%-60% 34.81% 38.72% 48.07% 35.86%
60%-80% 31.00% 54.63% 20.51% 32.69%
80%-90% 13.33% 3.28% 3.57% 11.88%
90%-100% 2.97% 0.00% 1.89% 2.64%
>100% 0.02% 0.56% 21.70% 1.18%

Average loan to value 40.88% 58.26% 50.59% 42.28%

The average LTV of overall mortgage book is 43.02%  (2016: 42.28%). Mortgage indemnity insurance acts as additional 
security for all residential loans where the borrowing exceeds 80% of the value of the property at the point of application.

26. Financial Instruments (continued)
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The quality of the Society’s retail mortgage book is reflected in the number and value of accounts in arrears.  
At 31 December 2017, by volume 0.98% (2016: 0.98%) of loans are three months or more in arrears and by 
value it is 0.22% (2016: 0.50%).

Possessions in the above table represent no accounts in possession as at 31 December 2017 (2016: 1 account)

The collateral consists of residential and commercial property. Collateral values are adjusted and produced by an industry 
recognised publicly available price index to derive the indexed valuation at 31 December. The Society uses the index to update 
the property values of its residential and buy-to-let portfolios on a quarterly basis.

Possession balances represent those loans where the Society has taken ownership of the underlying security pending its sale. 
As at 31 December 2017, £3.89m (2016: £4.27m) of loans and advances to customers were past due representing 0.70% 
(2016: 1.38%) of the total mortgage book.

Group and Society 2017 2017 2016 2016
Arrears Analysis £,000 % £,000 %
Not impaired
Neither past due or impaired 470,436 97.4% 419,602 96.7%
Past due up to 3 months but not impaired 1,439 0.3% 967 0.2%
Past due over 3 months but not impaired 583 0.1% 500 0.1%
Possessions - 0.0% 35 <0.1%

Impaired
Not past due 8,482 1.8% 11,033 2.5%
Past due up to 3 months 1,082 0.2% 558 0.1%
Past due 3 to 6 months 247 0.1% 931 0.2%
Past due 6 to 12 months 254 0.1% 515 0.1%
Past due over 12 months 174 <0.1% 228 0.1%
Possessions - 0.0% - 0.0%

Totals 482,697 434,369

2016 2015

Group and Society
Indexed

£,000

Indexed
(Restated)

£,000
Value of collateral held
Neither past due or impaired 1,241,480 1,136,435
Past due but not impaired 6,148 5,145
Impaired 11,014 15,799

Totals 1,258,642 1,157,379
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Forbearance

As a responsible lender the Society will always look for ways to support customers in financial difficulty. The Society has various 
forbearance options to support customers who may find themselves in financial difficulty. These include:

• Payment plans may be agreed to enable customers to reduce their arrears balances by an agreed amount per month which is 
paid in addition to their standard monthly repayment.

• Reduced payment concessions may be agreed to allow a customer to underpay for a specific period of time. The monthly 
underpaid amount accrues as arrears and agreement is reached at the end of the concession period regarding how the arrears 
will be repaid.

• The term of the mortgage may be extended in order to reduce payments to a level which is affordable to the customer based on 
their current financial circumstances and likely retirement date.

• Capitalisations may occur where arrears are added to the capital balance outstanding for the purposes of re-structuring the loan.

• Temporary interest only concessions may be agreed to allow the customer to reduce monthly payments to cover interest only, 
and if made, the arrears status will not increase. Interest only concessions are only offered rarely following a full affordability 
assessment and for no longer than 12 months.

All forbearance arrangements are formally discussed with the customer and reviewed by qualified staff prior to any offer of a 
forbearance arrangement from the Society to the customer.  The Financial Support Team continually monitor all accounts with 
forbearance in order to minimize credit risk. Possession of properties is considered as a last resort.

Regular reporting on the level and different types of forbearance activity is monitored by the Society’s Credit Committee on a 
monthly basis. In addition all forbearance arrangements are reviewed on a regular basis to assess the suitability of the arrangement 
for the customer and potential risk to the Society. The total value of accounts with an offer of forbearance on the account as at 31 
December 2017 was £3.1m (2016: £4.6m).

The table below details the number of forbearance cases:

At 31 December 2017 a provision for bad and doubtful debts of £0.15m (2016: £0.15m) is held against accounts with an 
offer of forbearance.

Type of Forbearance
2017 

Accounts
2016 

Accounts

Payment plans 15 24
Reduced payment concession - 2
Mortgage term extensions 45 49
Capitalisations 4 4
Interest only concession - 1

Total  64  80 

Total loans and advances to customers (No.)  5,512  5,371 
Percentage of total mortgage book (by value) 0.65% 1.06%

Group and Society

26. Financial Instruments (continued)
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Group Not more 
than three 

months

More than 
three months 
but not more 

than six 
months

More than six  
months but 

not more than 
one year

More than 
one year but 

not more than 
five years

More than 
five years

Non-interest 
Bearing

Total

At 31 December 2017 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Liabilities
Shares  379,545  44,933  33,491  47,410  -    -    505,379 
Amounts owed to credit 
institutions  5,864  4,505  2,002  -    -    -    12,371 
Amounts owed to other 
customers  19,217  1,001  2,003  -    -    -    22,221 
Derivative liabilities  -    -    -    -    -    559  559 
Other liabilities  -    -    -    -    -    2,473  2,473 
Reserves  -    -    -    -    -    42,769  42,769 

Total Liabilities  404,626  50,439  37,496  47,410  -  45,801  585,772 

Group Not more than 
three months

More than 
three months 
but not more 

than six 
months

More than six 
months but not 
more than one 

year

More than one 
year but not 

more than five 
years

More than five 
years

Non-interest
Bearing

Total

At 31 December 2016 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Liabilities
Shares  363,203  50,341  35,790  19,878  -    -    469,212 
Amounts owed to credit institu-
tions  495  1,000  1,502  -    -    -    2,997 
Amounts owed to other customers

 26,841  -    2,702  -    -    -    29,543 
Derivative liabilities  -    -    -    -    -    1,131  1,131 
Other liabilities  -    -    -    -    -    4,088  4,088 
Reserves  -    -    -    -    -    39,977  39,977 

Total Liabilities  390,539  51,341  39,994  19,878  -    45,196  546,948 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group does not hold sufficient liquid resources (resources readily transferable to cash or cash 
equivalent) to meet its obligations as they fall due.

The Group’s liquidity policy is to maintain sufficient liquid resources to cover cash flow imbalances and fluctuations in funding, 
to retain full public confidence in the solvency of the Group and to enable the Group to meet its financial obligations. This is 
achieved through maintaining a prudent level of liquid assets, through wholesale funding facilities and through management 
control of the growth of the business. For each material category of financial liability a maturity analysis is provided in Notes 
18 to 20, which represents the earliest time that the financial liability may mature, however, the creditor may be required to 
pay a penalty to receive these matured funds. The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity 
groupings based on the remaining period at the Balance Sheet date to the contractual maturity date.

The undiscounted contractual maturities of the Group’s financial liabilities are shown in the table below:

Liability Maturity Analysis:

As further described in the Risk Management Report on page 20, the group’s objectives when managing capital are to 
safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern by safeguarding Group assets and maintaining the financial 
strength of the Group in order to protect Members’ funds, provide benefits to Members and other stakeholders and to maintain 
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group’s capital is solely retained earnings within the General Reserve. The Group measures capital adequacy against an 
Internal Capital Adequacy Process (ICAAP) and risk appetite statement as well as regulatory capital requirements.

The results of the ICAAP are reported to management and the Board monthly and measured against the Group’s 5 year plan.

Further details on the risk management framework adopted by the Group can be found on the Society’s website 
www.darlington.co.uk

f) Liquidity risk

g) Capital Management
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Notes to the Accounts Notes to the Accounts

27. Pensions
a. The Group operates a defined contribution pension plan for its employees. The cost of contributions to the defined 

contribution plan in the financial year amounts to £252,499 (2016: £254,830). There were no outstanding or prepaid 
contributions at either the beginning or the end of the financial year.  
 
The Group operates a funded defined benefit pension plan for its employees providing benefits based on final pensionable 
pay.  The plan was closed to future accrual as at 31 March 2010. The plan funds are administered by Trustees and are 
independent of the Group’s finances. Contributions are assessed by a qualified actuary on the basis of triennial valuations 
or interim valuations as deemed appropriate using a projected unit method. 
 
The most recent valuation was carried out as at 31 March 2016.  The total market value of the assets of the Plan at that 
date was £24,303,000.  The value of the assets represented 84% of the benefits that had accrued to Members after 
allowing for future increases in earnings and the resulting deficit amounted to £4,654,000.  The long term recovery plan 
agreed between the Trustees and the employer was £900,000 per annum for the initial 6 years of the plan followed by 
payments of £300,000 for 1 year to eliminate the deficit over a period of 6 years 4 months from the valuation date. 
 
The Unfunded Plan relates to an obligation to previous Directors to receive pension benefits which were unfunded. 
 
Section 28 of FRS 102 (Employee benefits) requires that the net assets or liabilities of defined benefit pension obligations 
are included on the balance sheet gross of the related deferred tax.  

b. Retirement Benefits 
The valuation for FRS 102 disclosures has been based on the most recent actuarial valuation at 31 March 2016 and 
updated by Punter Southall (professionally qualified actuary independent of the Society and Group) to take account of the 
requirements of FRS 102 in order to assess the liabilities of the pension obligations at 31 December 2017.  Plan assets are 
stated at their market value at 31 December 2017. 
 
The financial and other assumptions used to calculate pension liabilities under Section 28 of FRS 102 were:

2017 2016
Valuation method Projected unit Projected unit
Discount rate 2.40% 2.60%
Salary increases n/a n/a
Inflation rate 3.10% 3.30%
Increase to deferred benefits during deferment 2.30% 2.50%
Increases to pensions in payment 3.45% 3.55%

2017 2016
Assumed life expectancy on retirement at age 65 are:
Retiring today - Males 22.2 22.4 
Retiring today - Females 24.1 24.5 
Retiring in 20 years time - Males 23.9 24.6 
Retiring in 20 years time - Females 25.9 26.8 

Mortality

S1PA table with CMI 
2016 projections 
and a 1.5% long 

term rate

S1PA table with CMI 
2015 projections  
and a 1.5% long  

term rate

Group and Society

Group and Society
The mortality assumptions used were as follows:

27. Pensions (continued)

Funded plan
2017
£,000

2016
£,000

Equities 15,337 13,752 
Bonds 10,282 9,648 
Cash and other assets 3,190 3,571 
Market value of plan assets at 31 December 28,809 26,971 
Present value of funded obligations (28,037) (28,631)
Surplus/(deficit) in the funded plan 772 (1,660)

The present value of the unfunded defined pension benefit obligations was:

Present value of unfunded obligations and deficit in the unfunded plan (561) (576)

The deferred tax (liability)/asset arising in relation to retirement benefit obligations was:

Net Pension surplus/(deficit) before deferred tax 211 (2,236)
Related deferred tax asset included within note 21 (at 17%) (36) 380 
Net pension asset/(liability) 175 (1,856)

2017
£,000

2016
£,000

Pension finance (expense)/income:
Interest income on plan assets 700 904 
Interest on pension plan liabilities (747) (861)
Service cost - administrative cost (59) -

(106) 43 

2017
£,000

2016
£,000

Amount recognised in the Statement of Comprensive Income (SOCI):
Actuarial gains/(losses) on the liabilities 366 (6,126)
Return on assets, excluding interest income 1,178 2,288 
Change in the amount of surplus that was not recognised, excluding interest income - 1,214 
Total remeasurment of the net defined benefit liability to be shown in SOCI 1,544 (2,624)

Group and Society

Group and Society

Group and Society

The fair value of the funded defined benefit plan assets and the present value of the defined pension benefit obligations 
were:

The amount recognised in the Income and Expenditure accounts is as follows:

b. Retirement Benefits (continued)
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c. Retirement Benefits (continued)

2017
£,000

2016
£,000

Changes in the present value of the defined pension benefit obligations 
(including unfunded obligations) are as follows:

Opening defined benefit obligation at 1 January 29,207 23,103 
Interest cost  747 861 
Actuarial (gains)/losses (366) 6,126 
Benefits paid (990) (883)
Closing defined benefit obligation at 31 December 28,598 29,207 

Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

Opening fair value of plan assets at 1 January 26,971 23,814 
Interest income on plan assets 700 904 
Return on assets, excluding interest income 1,178 2,288 
Contributions by employer 1,009 848 
Benefits paid (990) (883)
Service cost - administrative cost (59) -
Closing fair value of plan assets at 31 December 28,809 26,971 

2017
£,000

2016
£,000

Interest cost on defined benefit obligation (747) (861)
Service cost - administrative cost (59) -

(806) (861)

2017
£,000

2016
£,000

Interest income on plan assets 700 904 
Return on assets, excluding interest income 1,178 2,288 

1,878 3,192 

Group and Society

Group and Society

Group and Society

The plan assets do not include any of the Group’s financial instruments nor is any property occupied by any Group entity.

The total cost recognised as an expense:

No amounts (2016: nil) have been capitalised in the cost of plan assets.

Return on the plan assets:

1. Statutory Percentages

2. Other Percentages

2017
%

Statutory 
Limit

%
Lending Limit  5.56 20.00
Funding Limit  6.41 50.00

2017
%

2016
%

As a percentage of shares and borrowings:
Gross capital  7.92 7.98
Free capital  7.56 7.72
Liquid assets  17.49 20.77

Profit for the financial year as a percentage of mean total assets  0.27 0.26

Management expenses as a percentage of mean total assets  1.39 1.43

The above percentages have been calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Building Societies Act 1986 as amended 
by the Building Societies Act 1997.

The Lending Limit measures the proportion of business assets not in the form of loans fully secured on residential property.  
Business assets comprise Group total assets plus provision for bad and doubtful debts less liquid assets and tangible fixed 
assets.

The Funding Limit measures the proportion of shares and other borrowings not in the form of shares held by individuals.

The statutory limits are as laid down under the Building Societies Act 1986 as amended by the Building Societies Act 1997 and 
ensure that the principal purpose of a building society is that of making loans which are secured on residential property and are 
funded substantially by its Members.

The above percentages have been prepared from the Group’s consolidated accounts and in particular:

•  ‘Shares and borrowings’ represent the total of shares, amounts owed to credit institutions, and amounts owed to other 
customers.

• ‘Gross capital’ represents the general reserve.

• ‘Free capital’ represents the general reserve plus collective loss provisions for bad and doubtful debts less tangible 
fixed assets.

• ‘Mean total assets’ represent the amount produced by halving the aggregate of total assets at the beginning and end of 
the financial year.

• ‘Liquid assets’ represent the total of cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England, loans and advances to credit 
institutions, debt securities and other liquid assets.

• ‘Management expenses’ represent the aggregate of administrative expenses and depreciation.

27. Pensions (continued)
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3. Information relating to the Directors and Officers as at 31 December 2017

Name Date of birth Date of  
appointment

Occupation Other  
directorships

Directors (Non-Executive)

Chairman
J D A Ramsbotham
(retired effective 31 December 2017)

30.08.1959 16.11.2006 Chief Executive North East Chamber of Commerce
Foundation of Light
Gillian Dickinson Trust
NE World Wide Company

J Cullen
(appointed effective 1 January 2018)

08.09.1954 01.01.2015 Director None

A C Thain 04.03.1955 01.10.2011 Director Darlington Homes Limited
Sentinel Homes Limited
Port of Tyne
Sunderland University

R Cuffe 08.06.1960 18.04.2013 Managing Director Trinity Mirror

A T Gosling 01.06.1955 01.05.2011 Director Vanquis Bank Limited 

I Wilson 16.04.1964 01.10.2017 Director IDW Associates Limited
IDW Training Limited
IDW Advisory Limited

Non-Executive 
Director
Trustee

The Mortgage Lender Limited

Airdrie Savings Bank

Directors (Executive)
C D Fyfe 22.03.1967 18.04.2014 Chief Executive Anxiety UK

Ahead Partnership Limited
Ahead Partnership (Holdings) Limited
County Durham Community Foundation 
Darlington Direct Limited
Darlington Estate Agents Limited
Darlington Homes Limited
Darlington Investment Planning Limited
Darlington Mortgage Services Limited
DBS Services (No 3) Limited
Sentinel Homes Limited

C Hunter 30.03.1977 04.09.2017 Chief Risk Officer None

C B White 21.12.1978 01.01.2015 Finance Director Darlington Homes Limited

Officers
N Barker HR Manager None

D Ditchburn General Manager - 
Customer Experience 
& Distribution 

None

C L Darnbrook General Manager - 
Customer Strategy & 
Delivery 

None

P Gillson General Manager - IT None

S Horley Customer Support 
Manager

None

The Chief Executive is employed under a service agreement which commenced on 18 April 2014.
The Finance Director is employed under a service agreement dated 1 January 2015.
The Chief Risk Officer is employed under a service agreement dated 4 September 2017. 
The Society is obliged to provide 12 months’ notice to Executive Directors. Each Executive Director is, respectively, obliged to provide 9 months’ 
notice to the Society. 
No other Directors or Officers of the Group had service agreements at the year end.
Documents may be served on the above named Directors. Re Darlington Building Society c/o Latimer Hinks 5-8 Priestgate, Darlington, Co 
Durham DL1 1NL.    
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We are a member of the Building Societies’ Association.

01325 366366 | darlington.co.uk 

Moving onSaving Money Home Protection

26 Market Place, Barnard Castle, 
County Durham, DL12 8NB
Phone: 01833 631431
Fax: 01833 630941
Email: bcastle@darlington.co.uk

9 High Street, Redcar, Teesside,  
TS10 3BY
Phone: 01642 483351
Fax: 01642 490192
Email: redcar@darlington.co.uk

124 High Street, Northallerton, North
Yorkshire, DL7 8PQ
Phone: 01609 779757 
Fax: 01609 771019
Email: northallerton@darlington.co.uk

8 Tubwell Row, Darlington, County 
Durham, DL1 1NX
Phone: 01325 487171
Fax: 01325 380340
Email: tubwell@darlington.co.uk

Waverley House, 116 Newgate 
Street, Bishop Auckland, County 
Durham, DL14 7EN
Phone: 01388 604332
Fax: 01388 608055
Email: bishop@darlington.co.uk

21 High Street, Stockton, Teesside, 
TS18 1SP
Phone: 01642 672612
Fax: 01642 607441
Email: stockton@darlington.co.uk

8 Westgate, Guisborough, Teesside, 
TS14 6BA
Phone: 01287 638483
Fax: 01287 638092
Email: guisborough@darlington.co.uk

20 West Auckland Road, Cockerton, 
County Durham, DL3 9EP
Phone: 01325 382660
Fax: 01325 361880
Email: cton@darlington.co.uk

81 High Street, Yarm, Teesside,  
TS15 9BG
Phone: 01642 791019
Fax: 01642 789531
Email: yarm@darlington.co.uk

47 Linthorpe Road, Middlesbrough, 
Teesside, TS1 5BS
Phone: 01642 218961
Fax: 01642 231478
Email: mboro@darlington.co.uk
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